College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

Board Meeting
June 14, 2019
Held at the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
200-1765 West 8™ Avenue, Vancouver, BC

MINUTES

Members Present:

Arden Barry, Chair, District 7
Christine Antler, Vice Chair, District 2
Mona Kwong, District 1

Tara Oxford, District 3

Steven Hopp, District 4

Frank Lucarelli, District 5

Anca Cvaci, District 6

Bal Dhillon, District 8

Katie Skelton, Government Appointee
Justin Thind, Government Appointee

Regrets:
Tracey Hagkull, Government Appointee
Anne Peterson, Government Appointee

Staff:

Bob Nakagawa, Registrar

David Pavan, Deputy Registrar

Mary O’Callaghan, Chief Operating Officer

Ashifa Keshaviji, Director of Practice Reviews and Quality Assurance
Doreen Leong, Director of Registration and Licensure

Christine Paramonczyk, Director of Policy and Legislation

Gillian Vrooman, Director of Communications and Engagement

Jon Chen, Communications Project Officer

Stephanie Kwok, Executive Assistant

Guests:
Michael Coughtrie, Dean, UBC Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences
Elisa Colasurdo, UBC Pharmacy Undergraduate Society President

1. WELCOME & CALL TO ORDER
Chair Barry called the meeting to order at 10:00am on June 14, 2019.
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2. CONSENT AGENDA

a)

b)

Items for further discussion

No items were brought forward from the Consent agenda and placed onto the regular
agenda for further discussion.

Approval of Consent Items (Appendix 1)

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the Consent Agenda as circulated.

CARRIED
3. CONFIRMATION OF AGENDA (Appendix 2)
It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the June 14, 2019 Draft Board Meeting Agenda as circulated.
CARRIED

4. AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

a)

b)

Committee Update

Frank Lucarelli, Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee reported that the committee met
in the morning to review the 2019/2020 audit results with the Auditors from BDO Canada.
The results will be presented in detail as part of item 4b.

Audit’s Report (Appendix 3)

Bill Cox and Paul Fripp, Auditors from BDO Canada reported that the College received a
clean audit. Nothing was unusual. The College is in a healthy financial position (page 4 of the
Audited Financial Statements).

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the audited financial statements for fiscal year 2019/20 as presented.

CARRIED

5. COMMITTEE UPDATES

a)

b)

Audit and Finance Committee
Frank Lucarelli, Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee, provided an update under item
4a of the regular agenda.

Governance Committee
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Governance Committee, provided an update under item 10a of
the regular agenda.
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c)

d)

f)

g)

h)

i)

Legislation Review Committee
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Legislation Review Committee, provided an update under item 9a
of the regular agenda.

Practice Review Committee
Michael Ortynsky, Vice Chair of the Practice Review Committee, provided an update under
item 6a of the regular agenda.

Application Committee

Christine Antler, Chair of the Application Committee, reported that the committee has met
6 times since the last Board meeting. On April 15, 32 cases were reviewed by the
committee. All were late renewal cases related to a change in the indirect owner of a
corporation that affected 32 pharmacies. On April 29", 2 cases were reviewed, one late
renewal case and one eligibility-related case. On May 3™, 9 cases were reviewed, 8 late
renewal cases and 1 eligibility-related case. On May 14™, 2 cases were reviewed, 1 late
renewal case and 1 eligibility-related case. On May 27%, 3 cases were reviewed, 1 late
renewal case and 2 eligibility-related cases. On June 12", 5 cases were reviewed, all related
to late renewals.

Quality Assurance Committee

Frank Lucarelli, Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee, reported that the committee met
on Wednesday, June 12%" via teleconference to discuss about the committee’s progress on
reviewing the validity of the Continuing Education (CE) that registrants have submitted. The
committee is on track with reviewing 400 randomly selected accredited CE files and results
of the CE audit will be presented at the November Board meeting.

Drug Administration Committee
Doreen Leong, staff resource to the Drug Administration Committee, reported that the
committee has not met since the last Board meeting.

Ethics Advisory Committee
Bal Dhillon, Chair of the Ethics Advisory Committee, reported that the committee has not
met since the last Board meeting.

Pharmacy Advisory Committee
Tara Oxford, Chair of the Pharmacy Advisory Committee, reported that the committee has
not met since the last Board meeting but will have its first meeting on June 20™.

Discipline Committee
Chair Barry, on behalf of the Discipline Committee, reported 1 file in progress and 5 pending
files for the period of March to April of 2019.
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k) Inquiry Committee
Chair Barry, on behalf of the Inquiry Committee, reported that the committee met twice in
person and 9 times via teleconference for the period of March to April 2019. Seventy-five
files were either reviewed or disposed of. Although the numbers were a little higher than
previously seen, most were new files that were disposed of quickly. Number of
reconsideration, PODSA and HPA formal complaint files were similar to the numbers of
previous years. Number of tips received during this reporting period is 151 and number of
HPA s. 33 (formal) files was 23.

I) Registration Committee
Chair Barry, on behalf of the Registration Committee, reported that the committee met
once since the last Board meeting to review 2 files in which Registrants could not check off
some of the points on the Statutory Declaration. The committee also conducted an annual
review of its committee policies.

6. PRACTICE REVIEW PROGRAM UPDATE

a) Committee Update
Michael Ortynsky, Vice Chair of the Practice Review Committee reported that the
committee has not met since the last Board meeting. The committee will meet next week
via teleconference.

b) Practice Review Data Report & Registrant Feedback Survey Report (Appendix 4)
Michael Ortynsky, Vice Chair of the Practice Review Committee and James Van, College
Compliance Officer provided an overview of the Practice Review Program and presented to
the Board the 2018-2019 compiled data as well as comments received from the registrant
feedback surveys.

7. STRATEGIC PLAN 2020/2021 TO 2024/2025 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES (Appendix 5)
Mary O’Callaghan, Chief Operating Officer presented the four draft goals and objectives for the
College’s next Strategic Plan.

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the Strategic Plan 2020/2021 to 2024/2025.

CARRIED

8. EXCELLENCE CANADA UPDATE (Appendix 6)
Mary O’Callaghan, Chief Operating Officer reported on the College’s recent Silver Certification
with Excellence Canada’s Excellence, Innovation and Wellness Standard.
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9. LEGISLATION REVIEW COMMITTEE (Appendix 7)
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Legislation Review Committee presented on items 9a to 9e.

a)

b)

d)

Committee Update
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Legislation Review Committee provided a committee update
through her presentation.

PODSA Modernization Phase Two Bylaw Amendments

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the following resolution:

RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the authority established in section 21(1) of the
Pharmacy Operations and Drug Scheduling Act and subject to the requirements in section
21(8) of Pharmacy Operations and Drug Scheduling Act, the Board of the College of
Pharmacists of British Columbia approves the proposed draft bylaws relating to Phase Two
of the PODSA Modernization initiative for public posting, as circulated.

CARRIED

Repealing Multiple Professional Practice Policies

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Repeal the following Professional Practice Policies, effective immediately:

e PPP-40 Repackaging Bulk Nonprescription Drugs
e  PPP-47 Operational Procedures for Complying with Benzodiazepines and Other
Targeted Substances Regulation
e PPP-72 Inquiry and Discipline Publication Policy
CARRIED

Recognized Pharmacy Education Programs
It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Approve the following resolution to amend Schedule “C” of the bylaws made under the
Health Professions Act regarding Recognized Education Programs:

“RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the authority established in section 19(1) of the Health
Professions Act (“HPA”), and subject to the requirements in section 19(3) of HPA, the Board
of the College of Pharmacists of BC approves the proposed bylaws made under the HPA
relating to Schedule “C” Recognized Education Programes, for filing with the Minister of
Health, as set out in the schedule attached to this resolution.”

CARRIED
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e) Telepharmacy Licence Requirements — Removal of Schedules “C” and “E”

It was moved and seconded that the Board:
Approve the following resolution to amend the bylaws made under the Pharmacy
Operations and Drug Scheduling Act relating to telepharmacy licence requirements:

“RESOLVED THAT, in accordance with the authority established in section 21(1) of the
Pharmacy Operations and Drug Scheduling Act (“PODSA”), and subject to the
requirements in section 21(4) of PODSA, the Board of the College of Pharmacists of BC
approves the proposed bylaws made under PODSA relating to telepharmacy licence
requirements and the removal of Schedules “C” and “E”, for filing with the Minister of
Health, as set out in the schedules attached to this resolution.”

CARRIED

10. GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (Appendix 8)
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Governance Committee presented on items 10a to 10g

a)

b)

c)

d)

Committee Update
Mona Kwong, Chair of the Governance Committee provided a committee update through
her presentation.

Revisions to the Governance Committee Terms of Reference
It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Approve a revision to the responsibilities of the Governance Committee Terms of Reference,
to include Board member evaluations.

CARRIED
Revisions to the Drug Administration Committee Terms of Reference

It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Approve a revision to the Drug Administration Committee Terms of Reference, to reflect the
name change of the College of Registered Nurses of British Columbia to the British Columbia
College of Nursing Professionals.

CARRIED
Revisions to the Application Committee Terms of Reference

It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Approve a revision to the Application Committee Terms of Reference to remove a
responsibility to establish sub committees and ad hoc working groups for Board
appointment, to review, develop and administer and establish requirements for the purposes
of the application process.

CARRIED
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e) Establishment of the Past Chairs Advisory Committee

f)

g)

The Board could not come to a consensus on the requirement of Board membership on the
committee.

It was moved and seconded that the Board rescind the motion for further discussion by the
Governance Committee.

Approve the establishment of the Past Chairs Advisory Committee with the terms of
reference as circulated.

RESCINDED
Establishment of the Registrar Evaluation and Succession Planning Committee
It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Approve the establishment of the Registrar Evaluation and Succession Planning Committee
with the terms of reference as circulated.

CARRIED
Appointment of Members to the Registrar Evaluation and Succession Planning Committee
It was moved and seconded that the Board:

Appoint the following members to the Registrar Evaluation and Succession Planning
Committee:

The Board Chair, Arden Barry
The Board Vice Chair, Christine Antler
Two Board Members at Large:
1. Anca Cvaci
2. Steven Hopp
A Public Board Member, Justin Thind

CARRIED

11. ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD FROM CONSENT AGENDA
No items were brought forward from the consent agenda for further discussion.

ADJOURNMENT
Chair Barry adjourned the meeting at 2:31pm on June 14, 2019.
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2. Consent Agenda
b) Approval of Consent Items

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommended Board Motion:

Approve the Consent Agenda as circulated, or amended.

i.  Chair's Report
ii.  Registrar’s Update
a. Compliance Certificate
b. Risk Register June 2019
c. Current Strategic Plan Update
d. Action Items & Business Arising
iii.  Approval of April 11, 2019 Draft Board Meeting Minutes [DECISION]
iv.  Committee Updates
v.  Audit and Finance Committee: Finance Report: March Financials
vi.  Approval of April 11, 2019 Draft Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes [DECISION]
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2b.i. Chair’s Report

INFORMATION ONLY

Chair’s Report of Activities — June 2019 Board Meeting

It is my pleasure to provide this report for the June 2019 Board meeting. Since the previous
Board Meeting report (April 2019), | have been involved in the following activities as Board
Chair:

General Administration:
e Communications for planning of June 2019 Committee of the Whole and Board
meetings
Liaised with Board members regarding topics/guest speakers for future Board meetings
Communications regarding Registrar evaluation process
Met with Registrar (along with Vice-Chair) regarding mid-year evaluation
Met with new public board members (along with Vice-Chair) regarding
orientation/onboarding process
e Attended weekly meetings with Registrar/Deputy Registrar/Vice-Chair on general
Board-related items
e Reviewed draft April Board meeting minutes and strategic planning session report
e Answered general questions/queries from registrants and fellow Board members

e Attended the NAPRA Annual Meeting of Members on May 7-8, 2019 in Ottawa

e Attended WATSON Chair with Intension course on May 23-24 in Vancouver

e Attended the Dean’s Reception for the 2019 UBC Graduation Class on May 30 in
Vancouver

Committee Involvement:
e Registrar Review Committee
e Audit and Finance Committee
e Governance Committee
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Compliance Certificate

We have reviewed the College’s official records and financial reports and we certify that the
College has met its legal obligations with respect to the following:

Annual Report - Filed June 29, 2018
Non-profit Tax Return — Filed August 30, 2018
Non-profit Information Return — Filed August 30, 2018

Employee statutory payroll deductions — remitted to Canada Revenue Agency — all
remittances are current.

Employee pension plan remittances — all remittances are current.
WorkSafeBC BC assessments — all remittances are current.
Employer Health Tax assessments — all remittances are current.
Sales Taxes — all remittances are current.

Investments — invested as per policy.

Bank signing authority documents — current as per policy.
Insurance — all insurance policies are up to date.

Business Licence — current.

Signed by:
‘ 4
MZ/V@M 7O Gl
/R'egistrar Chief Operating Officer
o

tel 604.733.2440 800.663.1940 fa.\‘ 604.733.2493 800.377.8129 200/ 1765 WEST 8TH AVE VANCOUVER BC V6J 56 BCPHARMACISTS.ORG



BOARD REPORT (DRAFT)

May 21, 2019

i

39 78%

ACTION ITEM

ACTION ITEMS COMPLETION

COLLEGE OF BC PHARMACISTS PLAN
LEGISLATIVE STANDARDS & MODERNIZATION

Implement PODSA ownership changes (Phase 1) by 1st Director of Registration and Licensure 100% _
Apr 2018
> Implement revised bylaw by 1st Apr 2018 Director of Policy and Legislation 100% _
— Streamline business processes by 1st Apr 2018 Director of Registration and Licensure 100% _
—> Complete communications and engagement Director of Communications 100% _
activities by 30th Apr 2018 -
Implement PODSA Modernization (Phase 2) by 31st Mar Director of Registration and Licensure 10% _
2020 36% behind
> Update and re-scope entire PODSAPhase 2 project Director of Registration and Licensure 100% -
by 31st Dec 2018 -
> Implement revised bylaw (POSDA Phase2) by 31st Director of Policy and Legislation 50% _
Jan 2020 14% behind
—> Streamline business processes by 31st Aug 2020 Chief Operating Officer (113 _
—> Complete communications and engagement Director of Communications 40% _
activities (PODSA 2) by 29th Feb 2020 8% behind
PROFESSIONAL EXCELLENCE
Implement Hospital PRP by 1st Apr 2017 Director PR & QA 100% .
— Develop Hospital PRP program by 26th Nov 2016 Director PR & QA
—> Launch Hospital PRP program by 3rd Apr 2017 Director PR & QA 100% _
Complete Implementation of Methadone Action Plan by Deputy Registrar 100% _
31st Dec 2018 -
> Provide recommendations to the board based on Deputy Registrar 100%
findings of MMT inspections and undercover . . _
operations. by 31st Dec 2018
—> Complete legal elements by 31st Dec 2018 Director of Policy and Legislation 100% _
—> Manage inspections by 31st Dec 2018 Deputy Registrar 100% _

DRUG THERAPY ACCESS & MONITORING

—


http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/224
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/430
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/431
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/432
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/225
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/395
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/434
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/435
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/436
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/250
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/426
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/485
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/251
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/358
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/428
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/429

Recommend to the Minister of Health that pharmacists
be granted the authority to prescribe by 30th Nov 2018

> Develop framework/proposal for pharmacist
prescribing for submission to the Minister of
Health by 31st Dec 2018
> Complete communication and engagement
activities by 31st May 2018
— submit Proposal for Pharmacist Prescribing to
Minister of Health by 31st May 2018
Seek greater access to patient lab values to enhance
pharmacists’ ability to provide quality, timely service to
patients by 29th Feb 2020
> Complete communications and engagement
activities by 29th Feb 2020
— Develop and submit framework/proposal document
outlining a strategy for how to create access to
Patient Lab Values by 14th Sep 2019

ORGANIZATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Update IT infrastructure by 28th Feb 2020

— Implement IT updates required by PODSA
Modernization (Phase 1) by 31st Oct 2018

> Implement IT Department organization, processes
and procedures by 29th Feb 2020

— Implement Enterprise Content Management system
by 29th Feb 2020

—> Enhance public safety through ensuring Practice
Review Program systems needs are addressed by
28th Feb 2021

Enhance organizational best practices to obtain silver
certification from Excellence Canada by 29th Nov 2019

— Develop human resources / wellness policies and
procedures (plans or guidelines) required to attain
Silver certification by 1st Jun 2018

—> Develop Governance and Leadership policies and
success indicators required to attain Silver
certification by 1st Jun 2018

— Develop organizational policies and procedures
(plans or guidelines) required to attain Silver
certification by 29th Nov 2019

— Define customer segments and develop a customer

experience plan, including key partners by 1st Jun

2018

— Develop a methodology for regularly identifying
and capturing key processes, including Project
Management, Change Management and
Procurement by 1st Jun 2018

— Register with Excellence Canada for official
verification by 31st Mar 2019

> Review gap analysis and assign secondary action
plan projects to teams by 30th Jun 2018

—> Complete secondary projects by 1st Sep 2018

> Facilitate Excellence Canada verification team
visits and focus groups by 31st May 2019

Director of Registration and Licensure

Director of Registration and Licensure

Director of Communications
Director of Registration and Licensure

Director of Registration and Licensure

Director of Communications

Director of Registration and Licensure

Chief Operating Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Operating Officer

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%
37% behind
0%
22% behind

0%
42% behind

Current Completion

73%

2% behind
100%
80%

13% ahead
65%

9% behind
45%

4% ahead

98%
17% ahead

100%

100%

100%

95%
6% ahead

2018 2019 20..



http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/216
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/219
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/421
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/518
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/222
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/423
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/424
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/170
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/174
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/181
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/201
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/357
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/171
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/356
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/492
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/497
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/502
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/511
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/531
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/532
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/533
http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/534

— Receive Silver Certification from Excellence Chief Operating Officer 0%
Canada by 29th Nov 2019 -


http://collegeofbcpharmacists.executestrategy.net/user/goals/535
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2b.ii. Registrar’s Update

d) Action Items & Business Arising

INFORMATION ONLY

RELEVANT
MOTIONS/ACTION ITEMS BOARD STATUS

MEETING
1. | Motion: Direct the Registrar to draft bylaws to adopt the Model
Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Non-hazardous Sterile
Preparations and the Model Standards for Pharmacy
Compounding of Hazardous Sterile Preparations, to be effective
for May 2021, which will officially establish minimum
requirements to be applied in compounding sterile preparations.

IN

Status: Recommended implementation plan has been 04-2017 PROGRESS
communicated to registrants. College staff will bring forward a
proposed motion for the Board’s consideration, to officially
adopt the Standards, closer to the May 2021 effective date.

No further update at this point. The current status is still in
effect.

2. | Motion: Direct the Registrar to develop bylaws and/or practice
standards for Medication Reviews and require mandatory training
for pharmacists who wish to conduct them. To be prioritized by
the Legislation Review Committee for implementation.

Status: Findings from this project were scheduled to be brought
forward to the June 2019 Board meeting. However, the PODSA 06-2017 IN
Bylaws Modernization Phase Two initiative, a large-scale and PROGRESS
high priority project, will be brought forward to the Board at the
same time. Given the high priority of the PODSA Bylaws
Modernization Phase Two initiative, findings for the Medication
Review project will be postponed to the November 2019 Board
meeting. This rescheduling was discussed at the May 2019 LRC
meeting.

3. | Motion #1: Direct the Registrar to explore the development of
new requirements for the security of information in local IN

02-2018
pharmacy computer systems; PROGRESS




MOTIONS/ACTION ITEMS

RELEVANT
BOARD

STATUS

Status: The Policy & Legislation Department has addressed some
of the issues in the new electronic record keeping PPP. Work is
being done by the Ministry of Health addressing this issue with
PRIME and updated SCS document

No further update at this point. The current status is still in
effect.

Motion #2: If new requirements are deemed necessary, direct the
Registrar to propose that the Ministry of Health consider
amending their PharmaNet Professional and Software Compliance
Standards document to enhance the software security
requirements of the local pharmacy computer systems."

Status: Deputy Registrar, David Pavan has had discussions with
the Ministry on updating the SCS document. He has been advised
that the ministry is working on the conformance standards for
pharmacy software.

In addition, the Ministry is working on implementing the PRIME
project to accurately track all registrants and non-registrants
who access PHI on PharmaNet.

No further update at this point. The current status is still in
effect.

MEETING

Motion: Direct the Registrar to proceed with engagement on the
Strategic Plan Themes developed by the Strategic Plan Working
Group.

Status: The College provided an environmental scan of current
pharmacy practice issues and emerging trends, in addition to the
results of the Strategic Plan Engagement to the College Board in
April 2019. The input gathered through the engagement and
additional pharmacy practice background materials was used to
help inform the development of key goals for the College’s next
Strategic Plan.

09-2018

COMPLETED

Motion: Direct the Registrar to pursue drug scheduling by
reference to federal legislation and the National Drug Schedules
established by the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory
Authorities (NAPRA), with respect to the Drug Schedules
Regulation.

Status: Research and analysis has begun.

11-2018

IN
PROGRESS




MOTIONS/ACTION ITEMS

RELEVANT
BOARD

STATUS

No further update at this point. The current status is still in
effect.

MEETING

Motion: Direct the Registrar to explore implementation of
mandatory medication error reporting to a College-specified
independent third party.

Status: Research into medication error reporting software
solutions is well underway. We are also engaged in collaborative
discussions with the pharmacy regulatory authorities in other
provinces. A proposed implementation plan will be brought to
the Board for approval in September as planned.

11-2018

IN
PROGRESS

Motion: Direct the Registrar to remove current restrictions on
pharmacist injection and intranasal administration of medications,
while restricting the administration of injections for Schedule 1A
drugs and drugs for cosmetic purposes and retaining current age
limit restrictions.

Status: The Ministry of Health has recently requested that a
larger committee be established to explore potential effects of
the removal of restrictions on pharmacist injection and
intranasal administration of medications in British Columbia. The
College has discussed this request with the Ministry and is
developing a strategy to implement it.

02-2019

IN
PROGRESS
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2b.iii. Approval of April 11, 2019 Draft Board Meeting Minutes

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommended Board Motion:

Approve the April 11, 2019 draft Board meeting minutes as circulated.

Appendix

1

http://library.bcpharmacists.org/2 About Us/2-1 Board/Board Meeting Minutes-

20190411.pdf



http://library.bcpharmacists.org/2_About_Us/2-1_Board/Board_Meeting_Minutes-20190411.pdf
http://library.bcpharmacists.org/2_About_Us/2-1_Board/Board_Meeting_Minutes-20190411.pdf
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2b.iv. Committee Updates (Minutes)

INFORMATION ONLY

Committees who have met and approved previous meeting minutes have submitted them to
the Board for information purposes.

For confidentiality purposes, the Discipline Committee and Inquiry Committee have provided
summaries of their meetings, but will not be submitting minutes.

Appendix — available on the Board Portal under ‘Committee Minutes’

1 | Discipline Committee Update

Governance Committee Meeting Minutes

Inquiry Committee Update

Practice Review Committee Meeting Minutes

Tl hrlwWN

Quality Assurance Committee Meeting Minutes



https://thedispensary.bcpharmacists.org/sites/Board/Commitee%20Minutes/Forms/AllItems.aspx
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2b.v. Audit and Finance Committee: Finance Report (March Financials)

INFORMATION ONLY
Purpose
To report on the highlights of the March 2019 financial reports.
Background
The March 2019 financial reports reflect one month’s activity. Attached are the Statement of
Financial Position, a summary Statement of Revenue and Expenditures and more detailed
reports on Revenue and on Expenditures.
Statement of Financial Position
The College’s cash position is well funded to meet payables with a balance of over $850,000.
Investments at the end of March totalled $5.786 million. Payables and accruals are just over
$500,000.
Revenue
The total Licensure revenues continue to be very close to budget, just under $21,000 under
budget or 3% under budget after one month. Other revenues (administrative fees, etc.) are over
budget while Grant revenue is under budget as there was no grant revenue received in the
month. Investment income is almost right on budget, as is the Joint Venture income. The
combined result is that actual revenues are a little over $17,000 under budgeted revenues.

Expenses

Total Year to Date Actual expenditures are under budget by almost $185,000 or 21%. See the
variance analysis which follows for details. In general, this is due to timing.



Variance analysis by department:

Department Budget Actual Comment
Board & Registrar’s Office 51,214 39,977
Finance and Administration 348,122 292,259
Grant distribution 0 0
Registration & Licensure 84,125 66,996
Quality Assurance 24,467 14,531
Practice Review 126,263 103,655
Complaints Resolution 139,585 106,604
Policy and Legislation 47,821 28,855
Communications & 31,730 31,612
Engagement

Projects (PODSA Ownership) 14,845 5,784
Amortization 30,422 23,448
Total Expenses 898,593 713,722
Appendix
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Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2019

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 868,293
Investments 5,786,571
Receivables 42,116
Prepaid Expense and Deposits 252,137
Current Assets 6,949,118
Investments in College Place Joint Venture 1,562,624
Development Costs 330,020
Property & Equipment 564,369
Non-current Assets 2,457,013
Total Assets 9,406,131
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Payables and Accruals 516,619
Capital Lease Obligations (Current) 9,120
Deferred Revenue 4,820,036
Deferred Contributions 70,474
Total Current Liabilities 5,416,249
Capital Lease Obligations (non-current) 42,706
Total Liabilities 5,458,955
Total Net Assets 3,947,176
Total Liabilites and Net Assets 9,406,131




College of Pharmacists of BC
Statement of Revenue and Expenses
For the month ended March 31, 2019

Budget Actual Variance ($) Variance (%)
YTD 2019/20 YTD 2019/20 (Budget vs. Actual) (Budget vs. Actual)
Revenue
Licensure revenue 749,099 728,166 (20,933) (3%)
Non-licensure revenue 49,570 53,144 3,574 7%
Transfer from Balance Sheet 82,894 82,894 - 0%
Total Revenue 881,564 864,204 (17,359) (2%)
Total Expenses Before Amortization 868,172 690,273 177,898 20%
Amortization 30,422 23,448 6,973 23%
Total Expenses Including Amortization 898,593 713,722 184,871 21%
Net Surplus/(Deficit) of revenue over expenses (17,029) 150,483 167,512




College of Pharmacists of BC
Statement of Revenue
For the month ended March 31, 2019

Budget Actual Variance ($) Variance (%)

YTD 2019/20 YTD 2019/20 (Budget vs. Actual) (Budget vs. Actual)

Revenue
Pharmacy fees 287,496 289,319 1,823 1%
Pharmacists fees 391,262 372,271 (18,991) (5%)
Technician fees 70,341 66,576 (3,765) (5%)
Licensure revenue 749,099 728,166 (20,933) (3%)
Other revenue 10,121 18,949 8,828 87%
Grant Revenue 5,020 - (5,020) (100%)
Investment income 11,905 11,670 (235) (2%)
College Place joint venture income 22,525 22,525 - 0%
Non-licensure revenue 49,570 53,144 3,574 7%
Transfer from Balance Sheet 82,894 82,894 - 0%
Total Revenue 881,564 864,204 (17,359) (2%)




College of Pharmacists of BC
Statement of Expenses
For the month ended March 31, 2019

Budget Actual Variance ($) Variance (%)
YTD 2019/20 YTD 2019/20 (Budget vs. Actual) (Budget vs. Actual)
Expenses
Board and Registrar's Office 51,214 39,977 11,237 22%
Finance and Administration 348,122 292,259 55,862 16%
Registration and Licensure 84,125 66,996 17,129 20%
Quality Assurance 24,467 14,531 9,936 41%
Practice Reviews 126,263 103,655 22,608 18%
Complaints and Investigations 139,585 106,604 32,980 24%
Policy and Legislation 47,821 28,855 18,966 40%
Communications and Engagement 31,730 31,612 118 0%
Projects 14,845 5,784 9,061 61%
Total Expenses Before Amortization 868,172 690,273 177,898 20%
Amortization 30,422 23,448 6,973 23%
Total Expenses Including Amortization 898,593 713,722 184,871 21%
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June 14, 2019
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of British Columbia

2b.vi. Approval of April 11, 2019 Draft Committee of the Whole Meeting
Minutes

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommended Board Motion:

Approve the April 11, 2019 draft Committee of the Whole meeting minutes as circulated.

Appendix

1 ‘ April 11, 2019 Draft Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes (and appendices)




College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

Committee of the Whole Meeting
April 11, 2019
Held at the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
200-1765 West 8" Avenue, Vancouver, BC

MINUTES

Members Present:

Arden Barry, Chair, District 7

Christine Antler, Vice Chair, District 2
Mona Kwong, District 1

Steven Hopp, District 4

Frank Lucarelli, District 5

Anca Cvaci, District 6

Bal Dhillon, District 8

Tracey Hagkull, Government Appointee
Anne Peterson, Government Appointee
Katie Skelton, Government Appointee
Justin Thind, Government Appointee

Staff:

Bob Nakagawa, Registrar

David Pavan, Deputy Registrar

Mary O’Callaghan, Chief Operating Officer

Ashifa Keshaviji, Director of Practice Reviews and Quality Assurance
Doreen Leong, Director of Registration and Licensure

Christine Paramonczyk, Director of Policy and Legislation

Gillian Vrooman, Director of Communications and Engagement
Stephanie Kwok, Executive Assistant

Regrets:
Tara Oxford, District 3

1. WELCOME & CALL TO ORDER
Chair Barry called the meeting to order at 3:15pm on April 11, 2019.

2. COLLEGE NAME CHANGE (APPENDIX 1)

Chair Barry provided an overview of the College’s 2018 request to the Minister of Health to

change the name of the College.

The Board is in consensus with resubmitting a proposal for a name change to the Minister of
Health in the near future. The Board agreed a name change will improve clarity and
transparency to the public regarding who the College regulates. Direction was provided by Chair
Barry to the Registrar to review the April 11, 2019 Harry Cayton Report as guidance to reframe
the proposal for future resubmission. This item will be revisited at a later Committee of the

Whole meeting to further determine a date for the resubmission.



College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

3. IDENTIFICATION OF BOARD AGENDA ITEMS
Chair Barry asked the Board to consider and provide him any potential items for inclusion in the
upcoming Board meeting agendas.

4. ADJOURNMENT
Chair Barry adjourned the meeting at 3:42pm on April 11, 2019.



BOARD MEETING
June 14, 2019

College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

3. Confirmation of Agenda

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommended Board Motion:

Approve the June 14, 2019 Draft Board Meeting Agenda as circulated, or amended.

Appendix

1 \ June 14, 2019 Draft Board Meeting Agenda




College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

Board Meeting
Friday, June 14, 2019

CPBC Office, 200-1765 West 8th Avenue, Vancouver

AGENDA

10:00am - 10:05am 5 1. CalltoOrder Chair Barry
Land Acknowledgement
2. Consent Agenda Chair Barry
a) Items for Further Discussion
b) Approval of Consent Items [DECISION]
3. Confirmation of Agenda [DECISION] Chair Barry
10:05am - 10:20am 15 4. Audit and Finance Committee: Frank Lucarelli
a) Committee Updates Bill Cox
b) Auditor's Report [DECISION] Paul Fripp
10:20am - 10:30am 10 5. Committee Updates: Committee Chairs
a) Audit and Finance Committee (update provided in item 4) Frank Lucarelli
b) Governance Committee (update will be provided in item 10) Mona Kwong
c) Legislation Review Committee (update will be provided in item 9) Mona Kwong
d) Practice Review Committee (update will be provided in item 6) Michael Ortynsky
e) Application Comittee Christine Antler
f) Quality Assurance Committee Frank Lucarelli
g) Drug Administration Committee Doreen Leong
h) Ethics Advisory Committee Bal Dhillon
i) Pharmacy Advisory Committee Tara Oxford
j) Discipline Committee Chair Barry
k) Inquiry Committee Chair Barry
1) Registration Committee Chair Barry
10:30am - 11:15am 45 6. Practice Review Committee Michael Ortynsky
a) Committee Updates James Van
b) Practice Review Data Report & Registrant Feedback Survey Report
11:15am - 11:35am 20 7. Strategic Plan 2020/2021 to 2024/2025 Goals and Objectives Mary O'Callaghan
11:35am - 12:00pm 25 8. Excellence Canada Update Mary O'Callaghan
12:00pm - 1:00pm 60 LUNCH
1:00pm - 1:45pm 45 9. Legislation Review Committee Mona Kwong
a) Committee Updates
b) PODSA Modernization Phase Two Bylaw Amendments [DECISION]
c) Repealing Multiple Professional Practice Policies [DECISION]
d) Recognized Pharmacy Education Programs [DECISION]
e) Telepharmacy Licence Requirements - Removal of Schedules "C" and "E"
[DECISION]
1:45pm - 2:15pm 30 10. Governance Committee: Mona Kwong
a) Committee Updates
b) Revisions to the Governance Committee Terms of Reference [DECISION]
c) Revisions to the Drug Administration Committee Terms of Reference
[DECISION]
d) Revisions to the Application Committee Terms of Reference [DECISION]
e) Establishment of the Past Chairs Advisory Committee [DECISION]
f) Establishment of the Registrar Evaluation and Succession Planning Committee
[DECISION]
g) Appointment of Members to the Registrar Evaluation and Sucession Planning
Committee [DECISION]
2:15pm - 2:20pm 5 11. Items Brought Forward from Consent Agenda Chair Barry

CLOSING COMMENTS AND ADJOURNMENT
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BOARD MEETING
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of British Columbia

4,

Auditor’s Report

DECISION REQUIRED

Recommended Board Motion:

Approve the audited financial statements for fiscal year 2019/20 as presented.

Appendix

1

Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year 2019/20

2

Report to those Charged with Governance - Communication with Audit Results
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors of
College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia ( the
"College™), which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at February 28, 2019, and the
Statements of Operations, Changes in Net Assets and Cash Flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia as at February 28, 2019, and its results
of operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of this report. We are independent of the College
of Pharmacists of British Columbia in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the College of
Pharmacists of British Columbia’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the College of Pharmacists of
British Columbia’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College of Pharmacists of British
Columbia’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the College of
Pharmacists of British Columbia’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia
DATE



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

February 28

2019

Statement of Financial Position

2018

Assets

Current
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 1,146,034 $ 1,352,336

Short-term investments (Note 2) 1,261,710 620,105
Accounts receivable (Note 3) 68,771 83,832
Prepaid expenses and deposits 272,252 143,266
2,748,767 2,199,539
Interest in College Place Joint Venture (Note 4) 1,540,834 1,583,191
Long-term investments (Note 2) 4,514,125 5,030,142
Development costs (Note 5) 342,090 484,343
Tangible capital assets (Note 6) 575,748 624,274
9,721,564 9,921,489
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 573,213 601,861
Current portion of capital lease obligations (Note 8) 9,120 26,548
Deferred revenue (Note 9) 5,138,250 4,407,800
Deferred contributions (Note 10) 70,474 170,711
5,791,057 5,206,920
Capital lease obligations 42,706 -
5,833,763 5,206,920
Net Assets
Unrestricted net assets 1,305,869 1,073,164
Restricted Fund 2,000,000 -
Invested in tangible capital assets 523,922 597,726
College Place Joint Venture (CPJV) replacement reserve 58,010 43,679
Capital asset reserve - 250,000
Legal reserve - 500,000
Joint venture reserve - 500,000
Automation reserve - 500,000
Grants reserve - 250,000
Operating reserve - 1,000,000
3,887,801 4,714,569
$ 9,721,564 $ 9,921,489

On behalf of the Board:

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Statement of Operations

For the year ended February 28 2019 2018
Revenues
Pharmacy fees $ 3,294,034 2,563,578
Pharmacist fees 4,314,976 3,612,656
Technician fees 783,134 626,632
Other 182,444 771,072
College Place Joint Venture income (Note 4) 108,052 99,992
Grants (Note 10) 100,237 71,487
Investment income 134,694 134,901
Total revenues 8,917,571 7,880,318
Expenses
Board and Registrar's office 492,628 490,844
Communications and engagement 100,727 80,968
Complaints and investigations 383,474 243,570
Finance and administration 1,692,070 1,698,832
Grant distribution 134,395 144,700
Policy and legislation 54,370 124,447
Practice reviews 148,421 134,030
Quality assurance 50,218 49,760
Registration and licensure 312,739 307,871
Salaries and benefits 6,035,724 5,304,214
Amortization 352,460 359,894
Total expenses 9,757,226 8,939,130
Other expenses
Loss on disposition of tangible capital assets 1,444 -

Deficiency of revenues over expenses

$ (841,099) $ (1,058,812)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the Year ended February 28, 2019

Invested in  CPJV Capital Legal Joint Automation  Grants Operating Unrestricted Restricted 2019 Total 2018 Total
Tangible Replacement Asset Reserve Venture Reserve Reserve Reserve Fund
Capital Reserve Reserve Reserve
Assets
Balance, $597,726 $43,679 $250,000 $500,000 $500,000 $500,000 $250,000 $1,000,000 $1,073,164 - $4,714,569  $5,729,702
beginning of
year
Deficiency of
revenue over (209,565) - - - - - - - (631,534) - (841,099) (1,058,812)
expenses
Investment in 107,748 - - - - - - - (107,748) - - -
tangible
capital assets
Share of - 14,331 - - - - - - - - 14,331 43,679
CPJV
replacement
reserve
Repayment 28,013 - - - - - - - (28,013) - - -
of capital
lease
principal
Transfers - - (250,000) (500,000) (500,000) (500,000) (250,000) (1,000,000) 1,000,000 2,000,000 - -
Balance, end
of year $523,922 $58,010 - - - - - - $1,305,869 $2,000,000  $3,887,801  $4,714,569

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

For the year ended February 28

Statement of Cash Flows

2019 2018

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Deficiency of revenues over expenses
Items not affecting cash
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Amortization of development costs
Share of College Place Joint Venture Income
Loss on disposition of tangible capital assets

Changes in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred contributions

Financing activity
Capital lease repayments
Investing activities
Purchase of tangible capital assets
Increase in development costs

(Increase) decrease in investments
Advances from College Place Joint Venture

Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$ (841,099) $ (1,058,812)

208,121 265,735
144,339 94,159
(108,052) (99,992)
1,444 -
(595,247) (798,910)
15,061 (174,973)
(128,986) (32,228)
(28,648) 201,931
730,450 902,495
(100,237) (10,237)
(107,607) 88,078
(28,013) (29,787)
(107,748) (25,859)
(2,086) (189,670)
(125,588) 367,660
164,740 123,838
(70,682) 275,969
(206,302) 334,260
1,352,336 1,018,076

$ 1,146,034 $ 1,352,336

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a)

b)

c)

d)

e)

Nature of Operations

The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia ("the College") is a regulatory body for
pharmacists, pharmacy technicians and pharmacies of British Columbia to set and
enforce professional standards for the profession. The College is designated under the
Health Professions Act. For income tax purposes, the College is treated as a not-for-
profit organization and is thereby exempt from income tax.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared using Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations ("ASNPQ").

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASNPO requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates included in
these financial statements consist of the estimated useful life of tangible capital assets
and development costs. Actual results could differ from management's best estimates as
additional information becomes available in the future.

Revenue Recognition

The College follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which related expenses are
incurred. Unrestricted revenues are recognized as revenue when received or receivable
if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

License and registration fees received are deferred and recognized as revenue over the
year.

Investment income includes interest revenue, realized gains and losses on sale of
investments and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair market value of
investments during the year.

Interest in College Place Joint Venture

The College Place Joint Venture (CPJV) is a jointly controlled enterprise in which the
College holds 30% interest and another not-for-profit organization, the College of Dental
Surgeons of British Columbia, hold a 70% interest. The College accounts for its joint
venture using the equity method.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

1. Significant Accounting Policies - Continued

f)

)]

h)

)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and redeemable guaranteed
investment certificates ("GICs") of terms of less than 90 days at purchase.

Development Costs

Program and implementation costs for internally generated assets have been deferred
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over five years. Should the conditions for
deferral cease to exist, the costs will be charged as a period expense.

Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. In the event
that facts and circumstances indicate that the College's tangible capital assets no
longer have any long-term service potential to the College, the excess of the asset's net
carrying amount over any residual value is recognized as an expense in the statement of
operations. Cost includes all amounts related to the acquisition and improvements of
the capital assets including replacement of equipment. Tangible capital assets are
amortized at the following annual rates:

Leasehold improvements Straight-line over 10 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight-line over 10 years
Office equipment Straight-line over 5 years
Computer Straight-line over 3 years
Software Straight-line over 2 years.

Capital Leases

Leases which transfer substantially all the benefits and inherent risk related to
the ownership of the property leased to the College are capitalized by recording as
assets and liabilities the present value of the payments required under the leases.

Net Assets Held in Reserves

Net assets held in reserves are internally restricted to provide a funding source for
future financial obligations where the timing of the obligations cannot be precisely
predicted, and to provide funding to address financial risks for which the timing and
probability of a given event is uncertain. All reserves are approved by the College Board
and are disclosed on the statement of financial position as net assets.

The operating reserve was established to assist in funding unanticipated operating
expenditures and cashflow shortfalls.

The restricted reserve fund was established to assist in funding for specific purposes as
outlined in the reserve policy.



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued

)

k)

Net assets Held in Reserves - Continued

The capital asset reserve was established to assist in funding any unanticipated
leasehold improvements and furniture purchases.

The legal reserve was established to assist in funding any legal costs arising from an
unexpected increase in the number of inquiry discipline cases.

The joint venture reserve was established to assist in funding any large capital
expenditures required to maintain the upkeep of the building owned by the College
Place Joint Venture.

The automation reserve was established to assist in funding unanticipated substantial
maintenance, upgrading or replacement of IT equipment, software purchases,
audiovisual equipment and telecommunications equipment.

The grants reserve was established to provide the opportunity to fund proposals for
research project or training opportunities that support the College's Strategic Plan.

Financial Instruments

The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value.
The College subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
cost or amortized cost, except for investments, which are measured at fair value.

Financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents
and accounts receivables.

Financial liabilities measured at cost or amortized cost include accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.

Financial instruments measured at fair value include investments. Fair values are based
on quoted market values. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on the trade
date.

Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale or issue of financial instruments are expensed
for those items measured at fair value and charged to the financial instrument for those
measured at amortized cost.

Financial assets are tested for impairment when indicators of impairment exist. When
a significant change in the expected timing or amount of the future cash flows of the
financial asset is identified, the carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced and
the amount of the write-down is recognized in net income.

Employee Future Benefits

The College and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan which
is a multi-employer joint trusted plan. This plan is a defined benefit plan, providing
pension or retirement based on the member's age at retirement, length of service and
highest earnings averaged over five years. As the assets and liabilities of the plan are
not segregated by institution the plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan
and any College contributions to the plan are expensed as incurred.

10



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

2. Investments
Investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates ("GICs") with interest from 1.70%
to 3.21% (2018- 1.7% to 2.55%) with maturity dates from April 2, 2019 to February 28, 2024.
GIC's that matured between year-end and the date of the financial statement approval
were reinvested under similar terms.
3. Accounts Receivable
2019 2018
Ministry of Health grant receivable $ - $ 50,000
Other receivables 68,771 33,832
$ 68,771 $ 83,832
4. Interest in College Place Joint Venture

The College entered into an agreement dated March 3, 1989 to purchase 30% interest in a
jointly controlled enterprise set up to acquire and develop a property. The College
occupies space in the building and pays rent to CPJV. Included in Finance and
Administrative expense is rent and operating costs paid to CPJV in amount of $295,000
(2018: $284,900) which is recorded net of the College's 30% portion.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the joint venture at February 28, 2019 and

for the year then ended are as follows:
100% 30%

Joint Venture College

Balance sheet

Assets
Current assets $ 506,081 $ 151,824
Tangible capital assets and other assets 4,745,599 1,423,680

$ 5,251,680 $ 1,575,504

Liabilities and equity
Total liabilities $ 115,566 $ 34,670
Total equity 5,136,114 1,540,834

$ 5,251,680 $ 1,575,504

Statement of operations

Revenues $ 1,181,320 $ 354,396
Expenses $ 821,146 $ 246,344
Excess of revenue over expenses $ 360,174 $ 108,052

11



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

4. Interest in College Place Joint Venture - Continued

The College's lease expires on August 31, 2023 and rent payments until then are as follows:

Year Amount
2020 272,333
2021 279,446
2022 286,559
2023 293,672
Thereafter 148,614
$ 1,280,624

5. Development Costs

2019 2018

Cost Accumulated Net book Net book

amortization value value

SkilSure solution $ 41,302 41,302 $ - $ 500
Pharmacy online renewal 62,184 49,748 12,436 24,874
Robbery prevention form 10,800 10,800 - 2,160
Mobile apps 35,000 21,000 14,000 21,000
Website 306,171 192,595 113,576 175,172
Online pre-registration 101,220 60,732 40,488 60,732
PODSA modernization 201,988 40,398 161,590 199,905

$ 758,665 $ 416,575 $ 342,090 $ 484,343

6. Tangible Capital Assets

2019 2018
Cost Accumulated Net book Net book
amortization value value

Leasehold improvements $ 1,057,614 $ 713,949 $ 343,665 $ 389,605

Furniture and fixtures 362,897 279,947 82,950 80,818
Office equipment 227,683 159,228 68,455 63,546
Computer 416,786 344,155 72,631 66,409
Software 360,167 352,120 8,047 23,896

$ 2,425,147 $ 1,849,399 $ 575,748 $ 624,274

12



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts payables and accrued liabilities include GST payable amounting to $28,837 (2018 -
$56,920) as at February 28, 2019.

8. Capital Lease Obligation
The College is committed to pay an annual lease of $14,281 for office equipment under a
lease agreement. The lease will expire in October 2023.

9. Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents the subsequent year's pharmacy licenses and registration fees
received prior to year end.

10. Deferred Contributions

Deferred contributions represent the unamortized amount of grants received for future
operating activities and programs. The amortization of deferred contributions is recorded
as revenue in the statement of revenue and expenses.

2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year $ 170,711 $ 180,948
Grants received - 50,000
Less amounts amortized to revenue (100,237) (60,237)
Balance, end of the year $ 70,474 % 170,711
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College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

11. Municipal Pension Plan

The College and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed
pension plan) (the "Plan"). The Board of Trustees, representing Plan members and
employers, is responsible for administering the Plan, including investment of assets and
administration of benefits. The Plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic
pension benefits provided are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2017, the Plan has
about 197,000 active members and approximately 95,000 retired members. Active members
include approximately 39,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the
Plan and adequacy of the funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined
employer and member contribution rate to fund the Plan. The actuary's calculated
contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-
term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average
future entrants to the Plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial
funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial
liability.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as of December 31, 2015,
indicated a $2,224 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern
basis. As a result of the 2015 basic account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the
joint trustee agreement, $1,927 million was transferred to the rate stabilization account
and $297 million of the surplus ensured the required contribution rates remained
unchanged. The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018, with results available later
in 2019.

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of
employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan
accounting). This is because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the
Plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation,
assets and costs to individual employers participating in the Plan.

The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia paid $409,410 (2018 - $343,955) for

employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2019. These contributions have been recorded
as expenses on the Statement of Operations.

14



College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

12. Financial Instruments

The College's activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks including risks
related to credit, interest rate and liquidity risks. The risks that the College is exposed to
this year are consistent with those identified in prior years.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The College is
exposed to interest rate risk arising from the possibility that changes in interest rates will
affect the value of its investments. Investments are all invested in guaranteed investment
certificates.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk is the risk that the
counterparty to the transaction will not pay. The College is not exposed to any credit risk
arising as the receivable is from the Government.

The College is also exposed to credit risk arising from the possibility that that the financial
institutions with which it maintains its cash balances and GIC's will default. However, The
College believes that its exposure to credit risk in relation to cash is low, as all of its cash
and GIC's are with reputable Canadian chartered financial institutions.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College encounters difficulty in meeting its obligations
associated with financial liabilities. Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a results of
operational liquidity requirements, the College will not have sufficient funds to settle a
transaction on the due date, will be forced to sell financial assets at value, which is less
than what they are worth, or may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.
Liquidity risk arises from accounts payable and accrued liabilities and is mitigated by the
College's investment in GICs as disclosed in Note 2.
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College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
Notes to the Financial Statements

February 28, 2019

13. Commitments

The College is committed to a contract for IT maintenance services for 5 years, at a rate
of $8,790 per month, ending February 28, 2023.

Year Amount
2020 $ 105,480
2021 105,480
2022 105,480
2023 105,480

$ 421,920
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June 12, 2019

Board of Directors

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
#200-1765 W 8" Ave

Vancouver, BC

V6J 5C6

Dear Board of Directors:

We are pleased to present this report on the results of our audit of the financial statements of College of Pharmacists of British Columbia for the year ended
February 28, 2019. The purpose of this report is to summarize certain aspects of the audit that we believe to be of interest to the Board of Directors and
should be read in conjunction with the draft financial statements and our draft audit report which is included as Appendix A.

We would like to bring to your attention that our audit and therefore this report will not necessarily identify all matters that may be of interest to the Board
of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities.

This report has been prepared solely for the use of the Board of Directors and should not be distributed without our prior consent. Consequently, we accept
no responsibility to a third party that uses this communication.

We wish to express our sincere appreciation for the co-operation we received during the audit from College of Pharmacists of British Columbia’s management
and staff who have assisted us in carrying out our work. We look forward to connecting with you to discuss the contents of this report and any other matters
that you consider appropriate.

Yours truly,

Bill Cox, FCPA, FCA Paul Fripp, CPA, CA
Partner through a corporation Partner

BDO Canada LLP BDO Canada LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants Chartered Professional Accountants
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Audit Final Report for College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

For the year ended February 28, 2019

SUMMARY

o

=] Status of the Audit

As of the date of this report, we have substantially completed our audit
of the 2019 financial statements, subject to completion of the following
items:

» Receipt of signed management representation letter
» Receipt of outstanding legal confirmations

» Subsequent events review through to financial statement approval
date

» Approval of financial statements by those charged with governance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. The objective of our audit was to obtain reasonable,
not absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. See Appendix A for our draft independent
auditor’s report.

The scope of the work performed was substantially the same as that
described in our Planning Report to the Board of Directors dated April 3,
20109.

D[]I]ﬁ Materiality

As communicated to you in our Planning Report to the Board of Directors,
preliminary materiality was $190,000. Final materiality is updated to
$197,000 from our preliminary assessment.

@ Audit Findings

Our audit focused on the risks specific to your operations and key
accounts. Our discussion points below focus on key areas of audit focus:

Revenue Recognition

Risk of Management Override
Cash and Investments

Staff Salaries

vvywvyy
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For the year ended February 28, 2019

@ Internal Control Matters

We are required to report to you in writing, any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we have identified.

There were no control deficiencies were noted that, in our opinion, are
of significant importance to discuss with those charged with governance.

@9 Independence

Our annual letter confirming our independence was previously provided
to you. We know of no circumstances that would cause us to amend the
previously provided letter. We confirm that we are still independent as
of the date of this letter.

@] Adjusted and Unadjusted Differences

There are no adjusted or unadjusted differences or disclosure omissions
identified through the course of our audit engagement.
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000

WW Management Representations

During the course of our audit, management made certain
representations to us. These representations were verbal or written and
therefore explicit, or they were implied through the financial
statements. Management provided representations in response to
specific queries from us, as well as unsolicited representations. Such
representations were part of the evidence gathered by us to be able to
draw reasonable conclusions on which to base our audit opinion. These
representations were documented by including them in the audit working
papers, memoranda of discussions with management and written
representations received from management.

A summary of the written representations we have requested from
management is set out in the representation letter included in Appendix
B to the report.

@9 Significant Audit Estimates

Management is responsible for determining College of Pharmacists of
British Columbia’s significant accounting policies. The choice between
accounting policy alternatives can have a significant effect on the
financial position and results of the organization. The application of
those policies often involves significant estimates and judgments by
management. Based on the audit work that we have performed, it is our
opinion that the accounting policies and estimates in the financial
statements are reasonable and the disclosures relating to accounting
estimates are in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations.

@ Fraud Discussion

Through our planning process, and current and prior years’ audits, we
have developed an understanding of your oversight processes. We are
not currently aware of any fraud affecting the entity, other than items
previously reported or discussed.

If you are aware of changes to processes or are aware of any instances
of actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the College since our
discussions held at planning, we request that you provide us with this
information.

Please refer to the Auditor’s Responsibilities for Detecting Fraud in the
Planning Report to the Board of Directors.
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AUDIT FINDINGS

As part of our ongoing communications with you, we are required to have a discussion on our views about significant qualitative aspects of the College's
accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures. In order to have a frank and open discussion,

these matters can also be discussed verbally with you. A summary of the key discussion points are as follows:

KEY AUDIT AREAS

As described in our Planning Report to the Board of Directors, the following key audit areas were identified based on our knowledge of the College of
Pharmacists of British Columbia’s operations, our past experience, and knowledge gained from management and the Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition

There is a risk that revenue may be Assess revenue recognition policies for consistency All audit testing in this area was executed as
incorrectly deferred into future with professional standards, an analytical review planned with no issues to be reported.
periods in order to reduce surplus, or and corroboration with other sources, and inquiries

recognized in the current year in order into new revenue and/or expense streams and

to reduce deficit. performance of testing thereof.

Substantively test membership billings and
payments to agree membership records to
accounting records as well as reviewed journal
entries and corroborate with other sources.
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Management Override of Controls

Management is in a unique position to Tested the appropriateness of journal entries All audit testing in this area was executed as
perpetrate fraud because of recorded in the general ledger, review key planned with no issues to be reported.
management’s ability to directly or estimates and other adjustments made in the

indirectly manipulate accounting preparation of the financial statements.

records, and prepare fraudulent
financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be
operating effectively.

This risk is required to be addressed
for all audits pursuant to Canadian
audit standards.

Cash and Investments

Due to its nature, cash and Reviewed the year-end reconciliations and All audit testing in this area was executed as
investments are almost always obtained third party confirmations. planned with no issues to be reported.
considered to be a risk area in any
audit. Considered the risk of impairment over

investments.

Review of reports on return and investment
strategies.
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Staff Salaries

A significant type of expenditures that Performed systems testing and tests of controls. All audit testing in this area was executed as
covers many employees and ) ) planned with no issues to be reported.
departments. As a not-for-profit Performed substantive analytical procedures

organization, this figure is often of around staff salaries and benefits.

particular interest to financial

Reviewed the consistency and appropriateness of
statement users (taxpayers).

the allocations to segments.
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INTERNAL CONTROL MATTERS

During the course of our audit, we performed the following procedures with respect to the College’s internal control environment:

» Documented operating systems to assess the design and implementation of control activities that were determined to be relevant to the audit.
» Discussed and considered potential audit risks with management.

The results of these procedures were considered in determining the extent and nature of substantive audit testing required.

We are required to report to you in writing significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified during the audit. A significant deficiency is
defined as a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is of sufficient importance to merit
the attention of those charged with governance.

As the purpose of the audit is for us to express an opinion on the College’s financial statements, our audit cannot be expected to disclose all matters that
may be of interest to you. As part of our work, we considered internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such that we were
able to design appropriate audit procedures. This work was not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
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OTHER REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS

Professional standards require independent auditors to communicate with those charged with governance certain matters in relation to an audit. In addition
to the points communicated within this letter, the table below summarizes these additional required communications.

Audit Planning  Audit Results

. ! Auditor Comments
Presentation Presentation

Required Communication

Our responsibilities under Canadian
Auditing Standards (CAS)

Included in our engagement letter dated November 6, 2017

2. Our audit strategy and audit scope v Included in our Planning Report dated April 3, 2019

3. Fraud risk factors v Included in our Planning Report dated April 3, 2019

4. Going concern matters v None

5. Significant estimates or judgments v See Page 5

6. Audit adjustments v None noted

7. Unadjusted differences v None noted

8. Omitted disclosures 4 None noted

9. Disagreements with management v There were no disagreements with management

10. Consultations with other accountants v No external experts were consulted during this engagement
or experts

11. Major issues discussed with v None
management in regards to retention

12. Significant difficulties encountered v No significant difficulties were encountered during our audit

during the audit

10



Audit Final Report for College of Pharmacists of British Columbia For the year ended February 28, 2019

Audit Planning  Audit Results
Required Communication Presentation  Presentation

Auditor Comments

. Significant deficiencies in internal No significant deficiencies were noted

control

14. Material written communication v No material written communications were noted
between BDO and management

15. Any relationships which may affect our v v No independence issues to communicate
independence

16. Any illegal acts identified during the v No illegal activities identified through the audit process
audit

17. Any fraud or possible fraudulent acts v v No fraud identified through the audit process
identified during the audit

18. Significant transactions with related v None noted

parties not consistent with ordinary
business operations

19. Non-compliance with laws or v No legal or regulatory non-compliance matters were noted as part of
regulations identified during the audit our audit

20. Limitations of scope over our audit, if v None
any

21. Written representations made by v See Appendix B
management

22. Any modifications to our opinion, if v Please see our draft independent auditor’s report included in
required Appendix A
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APPENDIX A: INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia, which comprise the
Statement of Financial Position as at February 28, 2019, and the Statements of Operations, Changes in Net Assets and
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The College
of Pharmacists of British as at February 28, 2019, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of this report. We are independent of The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing The College of Pharmacists of British
Columbia’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate The College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing The College of Pharmacist of British Columbia’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they

12
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could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on The College of Pharmacists of British Columbia’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause The College of Pharmacist of British Columbia to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia

[Board approval date]
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APPENDIX B: REPRESENTATION LETTER

[Board approval date]

BDO Canada LLP

600-925 West Georgia Street
Vancouver, BC

V6C 3L2

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of College
of Pharmacists of British Columbia for the year ended February 28, 2019, for the purpose of expressing an
opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered
necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement dated November
6, 2017, for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations; in particular, the financial statements are fairly presented in
accordance therewith.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair
value, are reasonable.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or
disclosed.

The financial statements of the entity use appropriate accounting policies that have been properly
disclosed and consistently applied.

There are no uncorrected misstatements that would be material, individually or in the aggregate, to the
financial statements as a whole.
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Information Provided
e We have provided you with:

0 access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial
statements, such as records, documentation and other matters;

o0 additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

0 unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain
audit evidence.

o We are responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls to prevent,
detect and correct fraud and error, and have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of
which we are aware.

e All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

e We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws
and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

e We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity’s related parties and all the related party relationships
and transactions of which we are aware.

Fraud and Error

e We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

e We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and
that affects the entity and involves:

0 management;
o employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
o others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

e We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting
the entity’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators,
or others.

Existence, Completeness and Valuation of Specific Financial Statement Balances

e All financial instruments have been appropriately recognized and measured in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

e Significant assumptions used in arriving at the fair value of financial instruments are reasonable and
appropriate in the circumstances.

e Where the value of any asset has been impaired, an appropriate provision has been made in the financial
statements or has otherwise been disclosed to you.
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General Representations

e The nature of all material uncertainties have been appropriately measure and disclosed in the financial
statements, including all estimates where it is reasonably possible that the estimate will change in the
near term and the effect of the change could be material to the financial statements.

e There were no direct contingencies or provisions (including those associated with guarantees or
indemnification provisions), unusual contractual obligations nor any substantial commitments, whether
oral or written, other than in the ordinary course of business, which would materially affect the financial
statements.

Other Representations Where the Situation Exists

e We have informed you of all known actual or possible litigation and claims, whether or not
they have been discussed with legal counsel. Since there are no actual, outstanding or possible
litigation and claims, no disclosure is required in the financial statements.

Yours truly,

Signature Position
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APPENDIX C: MANAGEMENT LETTER

June 12, 2019

Mrs. Mary O'Callaghan

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
1765 W 8th Ave #200,

Vancouver, BC V6J 5C6

Dear Mrs. O’Callaghan:

Re: Auditor’s Management Letter

As your external auditors we are engaged to provide an audit opinion on your year-end financial statements.
An external audit requires testing of transactions and balances and review of those internal control systems
upon which we may place reliance. A positive opinion on the financial statements does not necessarily mean
that your internal control systems are all operating effectively. This is because we review only those internal
control systems where we feel that failure in those systems could result in a material error on the financial
statements. With those systems that we do review, our focus is on the assertions necessary to meet our
financial statement audit objectives.

Our review of systems, transactions and balances as well as discussions with staff at various levels throughout
the College gives us a unique insight into your operations. While conducting this work we make note of
items that come to our attention where we feel that improvement could be made or alternatives could be
considered. We are fortunate in that we work with a great number of clients and observe a wide variety of
processes. We see firsthand any procedures that are emerging as best practices.

We are required to report to you in writing, significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified
during the audit. A significant deficiency is defined as a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal
control that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is of sufficient importance to merit the attention of
those charged with governance.

As matters come to our attention we make note of these for subsequent follow-up. For minor matters, we
discuss directly with the staff involved. More important matters are brought forward in this letter (known
as a management letter).

It is always worth noting that we almost always come up with points for all clients. The existence of points
does not mean that there are significant problems with your systems or staff. They are just recommendations
to make good systems better.
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Prior Year Recommendations

1. Disaster recovery plan
We noted that the College does not have a disaster recovery plan. We recommended that the College should:

(1) Establish a priority processing plan based on the impact of the delay expected for equipment
replacement.

(2) Investigate alternate facilities to provide sufficient processing time for critical applications.

(3) Perform periodic test operations at the alternate facility and document the contingency operating
procedures.

(4) Provide for notification of equipment changes at the alternate facility and for updating the plan
periodically.

2019 update:
Management has continued its discussions on this topic with the College’s IT Managed Services Provider.

We received excellent cooperation from everyone at the College during the audit. We would like to thank
you and all staff for their assistance during the audit process.

Please do not hesitate to contact us should you wish to further discuss any of the matters discussed in this
letter.

Yours truly,

Bill Cox, FCPA, FCA Paul Fripp, CPA, CA

Partner through a corporation Partner

BDO Canada LLP BDO Canada LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants Chartered Professional Accountants
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BOARD MEETING
June 14, 2019

College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

6. Practice Review Committee

b) Practice Review Data Report & Registrant Feedback Survey Report

INFORMATION ONLY

Purpose

To present the Board with Practice Review Program (“PRP”) data and registrant feedback for
community and hospital pharmacy practice from the 2018-19 Fiscal Year.

Background

The PRP is a comprehensive cyclical review of pharmacies and pharmacy professionals
completed to ensure the standards of the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia (“CPBC”)
are met. The PRP was launched in 2015 based on the direction of the CPBC Board to replace
previous pharmacy inspections and assessment programs for pharmacy professionals. The goal
of this change was to develop an in-person, comprehensive and holistic review program that
enhanced patient safety through collaboration between pharmacies, pharmacy professionals,
and the CPBC while focusing on current standards of practice.

The PRP incorporates focus areas identified and approved by the Board as having the greatest
impact on patient safety including patient identification verification, profile check, counselling,
documentation, product distribution and collaboration.

It involves a 3-step process completed over a 2-3 month period which includes an online pre-
review questionnaire, an on-site review, and post visit follow-up documentation. Throughout
the process, Compliance Officers (COs) work with pharmacies and pharmacy professionals to
educate and support them as needed, ultimately ensuring CPBC standards are understood and
being met. Upon completion of the practice review, action items are assigned to pharmacies
and pharmacy professionals to address areas of non-compliance. A 30-day time window is given
to complete these action items which are reviewed and approved by COs. Once action items
are completed, the pharmacy and pharmacy professionals will not be visited again until the
next review cycle. Pharmacies and pharmacy professionals can be referred to the Inquiry
Committee in instances where action items are not corrected and non-compliance is not
addressed.
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Practice Review Data Report

The Practice Review Data Report (“the Report”) includes information from community and
hospital pharmacy practice reviews for the 2018-2019 Fiscal Year (March 1, 2018 to February
28, 2019). The Report identifies up to the top 5 non-compliance categories of each review type
(pharmacy, pharmacist, and pharmacy technician).

The year-over-year comparison of results showed many similarities with the 2017-2018 and
2018-2019 year findings. This provides validation and reinforcement of the PRP’s results by
demonstrating that even with completely different pharmacies being reviewed for the first time
in 2017-2018 and 2018-2019, the findings were still very similar. This has built confidence that
the information gathered is indeed reflective of common non-compliance categories and non-
compliance items in the field. This trend will continue to be monitored for any changes.

The information gathered through the report plays a crucial role in establishing a baseline view
of the profession and helps with identifying trends and changes. In addition, this information
has played a key role across CPBC departments. For example:

e (COs were consulted for their on-site experience and asked about how they inspect for
certain bylaw requirements by the Registration and Licensure department to ensure
consistency with pre-opening inspections.

e PRP stats were used in presentations at the Canadian Association of Pharmacy
Technicians and Pharmacy Technician Society of BC conferences.

e (COs were members of the College’s Working Group for Phase Two of the Pharmacy
Operations and Drug Scheduling Act (“PODSA”) Bylaw Modernization initiative. The COs’
unique perspective, by being able to inform the Working Group on what they are seeing
in practice, helped to inform decision-making.

e The CPBC’s B.C. Pharmacy Practice Manual Working Group consulted with COs regarding
how the BC Pharmacy Practice Manual is used in pharmacies.

e PRP review reports are used to provide background information for investigations.

e Sterile compounding questions were added to pharmacy reviews to help raise
awareness of upcoming adoption of the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory
Authority’s Model Standards for Pharmacy Compounding of Hazardous and Non-
Hazardous Sterile Preparations.

For the complete Practice Review Data Report, refer to Appendix 1.
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Registrant Feedback Survey Report

In order to evaluate and identify areas of future PRP development, pharmacy professionals are
provided with the opportunity to provide feedback through the Practice Review Survey.

Once a practice review is complete pharmacy professionals involved in the review are invited to
complete an optional and anonymous online survey to share their personal experience. For the
2018-2019 fiscal year, 31% of community and 25% of hospital pharmacy professionals
completed the survey. Once collected, survey data is analyzed to provide aggregated results
that include an overall rating score, overall impact rating, impact ranking and themed
comments.

The 2018-2019 Practice Review Survey findings have been positive and beneficial in informing
PRP development. Survey findings will continue to be monitored for trends and potential
program implications. Despite feedback being predominantly positive from pharmacy
professionals, it has been used to guide the development of pharmacy technician support tools
and PRP Insight articles. These tools and articles have focused on key issues raised in the survey
responses (e.g., preparing for a practice review, documentation, patient identification,
medication error reporting, and hospital pharmacy manager frequently asked questions).

A key determinant in PRP program evaluation and development comes from those
professionals who have undergone a review and who complete a Practice Review Survey. In
addition to this formal input, COs obtain direct feedback at the time of review. Along with the
above mentioned program changes, findings have informed bylaw and policy updates, opioid
agonist treatment policies, and electronic record keeping updates. While responses to date are
overwhelmingly positive, the PRP, now 2/3 through its first review cycle, will continue to
request and review feedback to ensure timely and beneficial program development.

For the complete Registrant Feedback Survey Report, refer to Appendix 2.

Appendix

1 | Practice Review Data Report

2 | Registrant Feedback Survey Report




College of Pharmacists
of British Columbia

Practice Review Program

Practice Review Data Report
2018-2019

Appendix 1




Appendix 1
Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019 P2

Table of Contents

L CTo U ALY = I UL a ] o Y75 3
INEFOAUCTION .ttt ba e s e e s be e e sab e e s saneesenreeeas 5
2 Lol €= o101 o [ PSRPR 5
Data CollECHION .. ..eiiiiieiteeee e s 7
D L= A g | LY £ ISR 12
STV T oY =SSR 13

Community PharMacy REVIEW .......uuiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiee ettt e e e e s e e s s iaae e e e saaaeeesnnnees 13

Community Pharmacy Professionals REVIEW........cccuuiiieiiiiec it 18

Hospital Pharmacy REVIEW........uuiiiieiie ettt e e s e s et e e e e e e e e s nneraneeeee s 24

Hospital Pharmacy Professionals REVIEW .........ccuuieiiiiiiiiiriiiie et eeee e 28
JiY oY o] Ior=NdToT a I o) dl 2T e [1a =TSSR 34
CONCIUSTON ..ttt ettt e e bt e e e e s bt e e sabe e e e ab e e e s abeeesabeeesabeeesaseessnseesnnneeaas 35
Ay oY 0= o Vo 1y A PSR 37
F Y o] o1 0 Lo LD SRR PPUPRN 38
F Y o] 01T 0 Lo [ TR PRUPRN 42
F Y o] o1 0T D a D RS PPUPRN 45
F Y] 011 0 Lo LG =PRSS PPUPRNY 48
F Y o] 01T 0 Lo LD SRRSO PPUPRN 52
F Y o] 011 0T D TR PPURN 55

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia Revised: June 03, 2019



Appendix 1
Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019 P3

Executive Summary

Supporting the College of Pharmacists of British Columbia (CPBC) vision and mission as
well as the provincial Health Professions Act quality assurance requirement, the Practice
Review Program (PRP) was launched in 2015. The goal of the PRP is to ensure that British
Columbians receive safe pharmaceutical care based on consistent implementation of legislated
standards of practice. To support the goal of the PRP, pharmacies and pharmacy professionals
in BC undergo practice reviews in a cyclical manner.

Compliance Officers (COs) work in collaboration with pharmacy professionals
throughout the practice review process to ensure pharmacies and pharmacy professionals are
in full compliance with the CPBC standards of practice. During the 2018-2019 fiscal year the PRP
reviewed 287 community pharmacies and 21 hospital pharmacies, evaluated 333 inspection
items in community pharmacies and 304 inspection items in hospital pharmacies, as well as
completed professional reviews for 738 community pharmacists, 58 community pharmacy
technicians, 118 hospital pharmacists, and 311 hospital pharmacy technicians. Upon review
completion, all non-compliance items identified at the on-site visit were resolved. Pharmacies
and pharmacy professionals were in full compliance with the standards of the CPBC.

Throughout the practice review process areas of non-compliance are identified,
documented, and resolved. For program evaluation, development, and education purposes the
5 most frequent non-compliance categories for each area reviewed are identified. In cases
when less than 5 non-compliance areas are noted, only the number identified are reported.
Focusing on the most frequent areas of non-compliance, in addition to the in-person specific
education provided throughout the review, the PRP is able to specifically target education
materials and other program development initiatives.

Community pharmacy reviews identified inventory management, prescriptions,
pharmacy manager responsibilities, security, and equipment/references as the top non
compliant areas. The average number of non-compliance items identified per community
pharmacy were 24.78 for 2018-2019, similar to the previous year’s findings.

Top non-compliance categories identified in community pharmacist reviews were also

consistent with last year’s reporting: counselling, documentation, patient identification
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verification, and PharmaNet. Community pharmacy technicians’ reviews identified
documentation, collaboration, product distribution, and patient identification verification as
the top non-compliance categories.

Hospital pharmacy reviews identified sterile compounding, nursing unit inventory
management, pharmacy manager responsibilities, ambulatory services, and
equipment/references as the top non-compliance categories. These findings showed greater
variance when compared to last year’s findings. This may be attributed to the relatively small
sample size (average of 22/year) of hospital pharmacies reviewed each year. In 2018-2019, the
average number of non-compliance items identified per hospital pharmacy was 23.19.

Top non-compliance categories identified in hospital pharmacist reviews were
counselling, patient identification verification, and documentation. Pharmacy technician
reviews identified patient identification verification, documentation, collaboration, and product
distribution as the top non-compliance categories.

A comparison of 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 identified many similarities, which validates
and reinforces results by showing consistency between a range of pharmacies and pharmacy
professionals undergoing review. We are confident that the findings are reflective of common
non-compliance categories and non-compliance items in the field.

Overall results of practice reviews have been positive, with average compliance
percentages of 93% for community and 92% for hospital pharmacies before any corrective
action items are completed. The PRP will continue to monitor and review data collected while
completing the current cycle of practice reviews to establish a baseline set of data. The data
that is collected is used to identify areas where pharmacy professionals may need additional
support or education in order to be compliant with bylaws in the interest of public safety. In
addition, PRP data and CO expertise is used internally to provide background information for
various projects and investigations across different departments. This helps CPBC departments
better understand what is happening at pharmacies across the province in order to better
promote the mandate of the College and ensure public safety while staying in tune with

pharmacy professionals.
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Introduction

The Practice Review Program (PRP) is a comprehensive cyclical review of pharmacies
and pharmacy professionals completed to ensure the standards of the College of Pharmacists of
British Columbia (CPBC) are met. The PRP directly supports the CPBC vision of better health
through excellence in pharmacy, as well as the mission of regulating the pharmacy profession in
the public interest by setting and enforcing standards and promoting best practices for the
delivery of pharmacy care in British Columbia. In addition, the provincial Health Professions Act
requires that health regulators have quality assurance requirements in place. The PRP meets
this requirement through assessment of professional practice. This report is a compilation and

analysis of data collected from practice reviews for the fiscal year 2018-2019.

Background

The practice review process consists of three components (Figure 1) and is completed
over a 2-3 month period. The first component involves a pre-review which includes
collaborating with pharmacy managers to determine scheduling of the on-site review followed
by an email confirmation and access to the online pre-review questionnaire including
supporting online educational tools. The educational tools are available for access on the CPBC
website. Follow up phone calls are made to pharmacy managers by PRP staff to confirm dates,
address any potential concerns, and reinforce the collaborative nature of the review. The pre-
review is available online to all pharmacy managers. The pre-review questionnaire is expected
to take approximately 2-3 hours. The time spent completing this questionnaire is eligible for
pharmacy professionals’ non-accredited continuing education annual requirements. The first
component of the review is complete once the pre-review online questionnaire is complete and
submitted.

The second component of the practice review is comprised of an in-person review by a
CPBC compliance officer (CO). This review includes evaluation of over 300 unique, unweighted
items and processes that directly relate to CPBC standards of practice (Appendix A). During the

on-site review, pharmacy professionals are observed performing day-to-day pharmacy activities
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including patient interactions. Pharmacist reviews focus on patient identification verification,
profile check, counselling, and documentation. Pharmacy technician reviews focus on patient
identification verification, product distribution, collaboration, and documentation. The review
of the pharmacy site takes approximately 6 hours to complete while each professional review
takes 2-3 hours. During the on-site review, the goal of the CO is to work collaboratively with
professionals, ensuring minimal disruption to the regular business of the pharmacy while
enhancing the bilateral sharing of knowledge.

At the end of the on-site visit pharmacy managers and pharmacy professionals are
provided with a verbal report followed by a written report; both outlining any identified action
items. Action items are areas of non-compliance that are assigned to pharmacies or pharmacy
professionals. By discussing in person then reinforcing in writing, pharmacy managers and
pharmacy professionals are given the opportunity to ask COs questions about their action
items: why something is an issue and how it can be corrected. Through this added level of
reinforcement, pharmacy professionals are able to enter their 30 day action item completion
period with a clear sense of what needs to be done and why.

For the third component, community pharmacy professionals complete action items
through an online action item portal, while hospital pharmacy professionals complete action
items on a customized Excel spreadsheet that is returned to their CO by email. This is due to
differences in data collection methods between the two types of practice review. Planning is
underway to migrate hospital practice reviews to the PRP application system as we continue to
assess the technical feasibility of this project. Once action items are complete the review is
closed, noting that those reviewed are in full compliance with the standards of practice of the
CPBC. A pharmacy or pharmacy professional can be referred to the Inquiry Committee in cases
where action items are not corrected, and non-compliance is not addressed. For the fiscal year
2018-2019, no referrals were made to the Inquiry Committee.

All pharmacies and pharmacy professionals in BC will undergo a practice review on a
cyclical basis. The current plan is to review pharmacies approximately every 6 years. In cases

where concerns are identified reviews may be undertaken more frequently. The cyclical nature
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of practice reviews ensures that all 1400+ pharmacies and 6200+ pharmacy professionals in BC

are reviewed and in adherence to the CPBC standards of practice on a regular basis.

Figure 1: Components of a Practice Review
Component 1: Pre-Review

Pharmacy: Online Questionnaire Pharmacy Professionals: Access to Forms

Component 2: Onsite Review

Pharmacy Review Pharmacy Professionals Review

Component 3: Action ltem Follow Up

Correction of Non-Compliance Items

Data Collection

Site Selection and Statistics

Community pharmacies selected for practice reviews were identified and classified as
either cycle-based or risk-based. Hospital pharmacies selected for practice reviews were only
selected in a cycle-based manner due to a lack of available risk data.

Pharmacies identified as cycle-based were chosen and prioritized by last date of
inspection, with pharmacies that had not been visited for a long period of time taking priority.
Pharmacies identified as risk-based were selected and prioritized based on referrals from the
CPBC Complaints department and also selected based on new pharmacies that had not been
reviewed since their pre-opening inspection report was submitted. Figure 2 and 3 provide

community and hospital pharmacy site statistics for the fiscal year 2018-2019.
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Figure 2: 2018-2019 Community Pharmacy Site Statistics

Site Type District 1  District2 District 3 District4 District 5 Total
Cycle-Based 50 67 38 23 17 195
Risk-Based 28 22 12 12 3 77

(Complaints)
Risk-Based 0 0 1 13 1 15

(New Openings —
no review since
pre-opening)
Totals 78 89 51 48 21 287

District 1 - Metro Vancouver, District 2 - Fraser Valley, District 3 - Vancouver Island/Coastal, District 4 - Kootenay/Okanagan,

District 5 - Northern BC

Figure 3: 2018-2019 Hospital Pharmacy Site Statistics

District 6 District 7

Hospital Pharmacies Reviewed 10 11

Total 21

District 6 — Urban Hospitals, District 7 — Community Hospitals

Communication and Pre-Review

Selected community pharmacies were notified via email at least 1 month prior to the
scheduled review date. Hospital pharmacies were notified via email at least 2 months prior to
the scheduled review date.

Pharmacy managers were asked to complete and submit an online pharmacy pre-review
in preparation for the upcoming visit. This allowed them to compare the practice at their
pharmacy and their own practice to the legislation, standards, and expectations for all

pharmacies and pharmacy professionals in British Columbia.
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Pharmacy professionals were also provided with a number of resources to help them
prepare for their pharmacy professionals review. This included emailed instructions, pharmacy
professional review forms available online, an online FAQ, PRP support tools for community
pharmacy professionals, and direct support available from PRP staff for pharmacy

professionals.

Pharmacy Review

Community pharmacies were evaluated based on 10 mandatory categories, and two
non-mandatory categories for sites that provide methadone maintenance treatment and/or
specialty compounding. Additionally, a minimum of 300 prescriptions over a range of dates
were reviewed at each site as part of the evaluation for the prescriptions category. Figure 4

below illustrates community pharmacy review item categories and counts.

Figure 4: Community Pharmacy Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
External to Dispensary 20
Dispensary 7
Security 22
Equipment & References 39
Prescriptions 64
Confidentiality 15
Inventory Management 40
Dispensed Products 17
Documentation 44
Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities 37
Methadone* 26
Compounding* 22
Total 333

*Optional categories that would only be reviewed for Methadone Maintenance Treatment providers and specialty
compounding providers respectively.
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Hospital pharmacies were evaluated based on 11 mandatory categories and 5 non-
mandatory categories, the latter to be reviewed only if the service is provided at the hospital

pharmacy. Figure 5 below illustrates hospital pharmacy review item categories and counts.

Figure 5: Hospital Pharmacy Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
Pharmacy Security 4
Equipment & References 9
Drug Orders 10
Confidentiality 10
Inventory Management — Pharmacy 9
Inventory Management — Nursing Units 20
Narcotics and Controlled Drug Substances 31
Dispensed Products 36
Patient Records / Documentation 12
After Hours Services 6
Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities 52
Non-sterile Compounding* * 21
Bulk Packaging* 24
Residential Care* 6
Sterile Compounding* 17
Ambulatory / Outpatient Services* 41
Total 304

*Optional categories that would only be reviewed for Hospital Pharmacies that offer these services
*Non-sterile compounding category no longer used as of July 27, 2018

Each category is comprised of numerous items; overall, there were up to 333 items reviewed in
community pharmacies and up to 304 items in hospital pharmacies. Full review criteria forms

for practice reviews can be found in Appendix A.
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Pharmacy Professionals Review

Pharmacy professionals (pharmacists and pharmacy technicians) were observed
performing regular pharmacy duties including patient interactions and evaluated based on the
categories below. Figures 6 to 8 highlight key community pharmacy professional review

statistics while figures 9 to 11 highlight key hospital pharmacy professional review statistics.

Figure 6: 2018-2019 Community Pharmacy Professional Review Statistics

Pharmacists 738

Pharmacy Technicians 58

Figure 7: Community Pharmacist Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
Patient Identification Verification 6
PharmaNet Profile Check 17
Counselling 28
Documentation 34
Total 85

Figure 8: Community Pharmacy Technician Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
Patient Identification Verification 6
Product Distribution 33
Collaboration 24
Documentation 15
Total 78

Figure 9: 2018-2019 Hospital Pharmacy Professional Review Statistics

Pharmacists 118

Pharmacy Technicians 311
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Figure 10: Hospital Pharmacist Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
Patient Identification Verification 3
Profile Check 22
Counselling 15
Documentation 17
Total 57

Figure 11: Hospital Pharmacy Technician Review Categories and Item Counts

CATEGORY # ITEMS
Patient Identification Verification 3
Product Distribution 46
Collaboration 4
Documentation 8

Total 61

There are four categories (focus areas) in every Pharmacy Professionals Review which

include a varying number of items as shown in the figures above.

Data Analysis

When reviewing the results in this report, it is important to recognize that results
collected via different data collection methods are not directly comparable due to differences
in the way non-compliance items are counted for each collection method. For example, results
collected via the PRP computer application (community practice review results) are not directly
comparable with data collected via manual Excel methods (hospital practice review results).

This report will identify up to the top 5 non-compliance categories of each review type
(pharmacy, pharmacist, and pharmacy technician), and list them in order of frequency from
largest to smallest. In cases where fewer than 5 non-compliance categories were found in a

review type, we will see less than 5 non-compliance categories listed in that section. Top non-
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compliance categories for both 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 will be presented in order to allow
for a year-over-year visual comparison of results.

Within each non-compliance category, up to the top 5 non-compliance items in that
category will be listed in order of frequency from largest to smallest. In cases where fewer than
5 non-compliance items were found in a non-compliance category, we will see less than 5 non-

compliance items listed in that section.

Findings

Community Pharmacy Review

Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Community Pharmacy
Review

Data from the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 fiscal years showed very similar non-
compliance findings year-over-year, both in terms of non-compliance categories and also
average non-compliance counts. For 2018-2019, we saw the security category make its way into
the top 5 non-compliance categories list. This may have been due to new security bylaws
coming into force and being incorporated into practice reviews for only part of the 2017-2018
fiscal year, compared to these bylaws being in place for the full 2018-2019 fiscal year.

Along with the top 5 non-compliance category results shown below, a year-over-year

comparison of results can be found in Appendix B.
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N = 333 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017-2018 2018-2019

1.
2.

. Pharmacy Manager <

Prescriptionsx‘<

Inventory Management

1.

Nz

Responsibilities

Equipment and References \

. External to Dispensary

N = 333 items reviewed (2018-2019)
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Inventory Management

. Prescriptions

. Pharmacy Manager

Responsibilities

Security

. Equipment and References

Average Non-Compliance Items per Community Pharmacy

2017 - 2018

24.99 (7.0%)

Inventory Management

2018-2019

24.78 (7.4%)

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the inventory management

category revolved around expired products being found in a dispensary, and narcotic count

procedures and documentation.
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N = 39 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank | A registrant must not sell or dispense a quantity of drug that will not be used completely prior to the

1 manufacturer's expiry date, if used according to the directions on the label.

2 Any loss or theft of Targeted Substances must be reported to the federal Minister of Health within ten
days of discovery with a copy of the report forwarded to the College.

3 Missing date and signature of the person(s) who completed narcotic count.
4 Missing date and signature of the responsible pharmacist when conducting narcotic counts.

5 Forward to the College a copy of any report sent to the appropriate office at Health Canada.

Prescriptions

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the prescriptions category
revolved around fax prescription requirements, emergency refills, and missing documentation

on prescription hard copies.

N = 64 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank = Missing name and/or fax number of the pharmacy intended to receive the transmission.
1

2 Pharmacists must document in the client’s record any emergency refill of the prescription, the rationale
for the decision, and any appropriate follow-up plan.

3 The written confirmation of the registrant who verified the patient allergy information is missing on a
prescription hard copy.

4 The written confirmation of the registrant who verified the patient identification is missing on a
prescription hard copy.

5 The written confirmation of the registrant who performed the consultation is missing on a prescription
hard copy.
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Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the pharmacy manager
responsibilities category revolved around establishing policies and procedures, developing

guality management programs, and having all required pharmacy reference material.

N = 37 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank | Procedures were not established for (i) inventory management, (ii) product selection, and (iii) proper
1 destruction of unusable drugs and devices.

2 An ongoing quality management program that monitors staff performance, equipment, facilities and
adherence to the Community Pharmacy Standards of Practice has not been developed.

3 Policies and procedures were not established to specify the duties to be performed by pharmacy
professionals and support persons.

4 Ensure that all steps in the drug recall procedure are documented, if the procedure is initiated.

5 Ensure the pharmacy contains the reference material and equipment approved by the board from time
to time.

Security

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the security category revolved
around having and using secure storage (i.e. metal safe, physical barriers), having required

signage, and the security camera system.
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N = 22 items reviewed (2018-2019) *New to top 5 list for 2018-2019

2018 - 2019

Rank Schedule IA drugs were not kept in a locked metal safe.
1

2 A community pharmacy must clearly display at all external entrances that identify the premises as a
pharmacy, and at the dispensary counter signage provided by the College.

3 Security camera system does not have date/time stamp images that are archived and available for no
less than 30 days.

4 Under the Personal Information Protection Act (PIPA) pharmacies are required to post visible and clear
signage informing customers that the premise is monitored by cameras.

5 Some schedule | and Il drugs, controlled drug substances or personal health information, were not
secured by physical barriers.

Equipment and References

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the equipment and references
category revolved around refrigerator temperature monitoring, possessing a veterinary

reference, and missing required equipment.

N = 39 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank @ At the start and end of each work day, record the minimum and maximum temperatures reached since
1 the last monitoring, on the Temperature Form

2 The dispensary of all community pharmacies at a minimum must have the equipment outlined as per
PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy was missing stirring rods (glass or plastic).

3 The pharmacy does not have a current reference applicable to veterinary drugs though it does dispense
drugs for veterinary use.

4 The dispensary of all community pharmacies at a minimum must have the equipment outlined as per
PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy was missing funnels (glass or plastic).

5 Use a constant temperature-recording device or digital minimum/maximum thermometer (with probe)
to monitor both the current refrigerator temperature and the minimum/maximum temperatures
reached.
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Community Pharmacy Professionals Review

Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Community Pharmacist
Review

A year-over-year comparison of 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 fiscal year data showed the
top non-compliance categories ranking in the Community Pharmacist Review remained exactly
the same.

Along with the top non-compliance category results shown below, a year-over-year

comparison of results can be found in Appendix C.

N = 85 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

1. Counselling <« > 1. Counselling
2. Documentation + » 2. Documentation
3. Patient Identification< »3. Patient Identification
Verification Verification
4. PharmaNet <+ » 4. PharmaNet
Counselling

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the counselling category revolved

around missing required counselling points and failure to provide prescription counselling.
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N = 28 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank  The pharmacist/patient consultation for a NEW prescription did not include action to be taken in the

1 event of a missed dose.
2 The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL prescription did not include the strength of the drug.
3 The pharmacist did not provide patient consultation for a schedule 1 prescription.
4 The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL prescription did not include the purpose of the drug.
5 The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL prescription did not include the directions for use of
the drug including frequency and duration.
Documentation

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the documentation category

revolved around missing documentation after performing an activity that requires

documentation.

N = 34 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank The pharmacist verified patient identification but did not include his/her written confirmation for doing

1

so on the prescription hardcopy.

The pharmacist verified patient allergy information but did not include his/her written confirmation for
doing so on the prescription hardcopy.

The pharmacist performed counselling but did not include his/her written confirmation for doing so on
the prescription hardcopy.

Unable to tell whether counselling occurred or refused by patient because pharmacist did not self-
identify for that on the prescription.

The pharmacist reviewed PHI on PNET but did not self-identify for doing that on prescription.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia Revised: June 03, 2019



Appendix 1
Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019 P20
Patient Identification Verification

The three non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the patient identification
verification category revolved around not viewing ID from an unknown patient or not taking

reasonable steps to confirm a patient’s identity before providing pharmacy services.

N = 6 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank | The registrant did not view any ID from an unknown patient.
1

2 The registrant viewed only 1 piece of secondary ID from an unknown patient.

3 The registrant did not take reasonable steps to confirm the identity of a patient before providing
pharmacy service that concerns a patient’s PHI.

PharmaNet

The four non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the PharmaNet category revolved
around not reviewing a patient’s PharmaNet profile prior to dispensing a drug, and not

reviewing a patient’s local profile.

N =17 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank ' The pharmacist did not review the patient's personal health information stored on the PharmaNet
1 database before dispensing a drug.

2 The pharmacist did not review a patient's local patient profile for drug therapy problems.

3 The pharmacist did not review a patient's local patient profile for other potential problems.

4 The pharmacist did not review a patient's local patient profile for therapeutic duplications.
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Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Community Pharmacy
Technician Review

Data from the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 fiscal years showed very similar non-
compliance findings year-over-year for the Community Pharmacy Technician Review. In the
2017-2018 fiscal year, up to 6 focus areas were part of the Community Pharmacy Technician
Review, whereas in the 2018-2019 fiscal year there were only 4 applicable focus areas. This was
due to new pharmacy technician focus areas (collaboration and product distribution) being
introduced in January 2018. Prior to this, both pharmacists and pharmacy technicians were
evaluated using the same focus area categories (patient ID verification, PharmaNet profile
check, counselling, and documentation) but tailored to their differing scopes of practice.
Counselling and PharmaNet profile check focus areas were removed from pharmacy technician
reviews as of January 2018 and replaced by collaboration and product distribution for the
remainder of the fiscal year and onwards. Along with the top non-compliance category results

shown below, a year-over-year comparison of results can be found in Appendix D.

N = 78 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019
1. Documentation < » 1. Documentation
2. Product Distribution —> 2. Collaboration
3. Collaboration )<\ 3. Product Distribution
4. Counselling |_»4. Patient Identification
5. Patient Identification — el
Verification
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Documentation

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the documentation category
revolved around missing documentation after performing activities that require

documentation.

N = 15 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank The pharmacy technician verified patient identification but did not include his/her written confirmation
1 for doing so on the prescription hardcopy.

2 The pharmacy technician verified patient allergy information but did not include his/her written
confirmation for doing so on the prescription hardcopy.

3 Unable to tell whether patient allergy information was verified or not because the pharmacy technician
did not self-identify for that on the prescription.

4 Unable to tell whether patient identification was verified or not because the pharmacy technician did
not self-identify for that on the prescription.

5 The pharmacy technician did not include his/her written confirmation for preparation of the
prescription.

Collaboration

The four non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the collaboration category
revolved around missing identification of one’s registrant class during interactions with patients
and practitioners, as well as performing tasks outside of a pharmacy technician’s scope of

practice.

N = 24 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank | The pharmacy technician did not identify his or her registrant class in an interaction with a patient.
1
2 The pharmacy technician did not identify his or her registrant class in an interaction with a practitioner.

3 The pharmacy technician performed a task described in (i) sections 6(5): Clinical.

4 The pharmacy technician performed a task described in (i) sections 12: Counselling a Prescription.
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Product Distribution

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the product distribution category
revolved around the failure to perform certain required tasks during the preparation of a

prescription product and its final check.

N = 33 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank | The pharmacy technician performing the final check of a prepared prescription did not ensure that: a
1 pharmacist has completed a clinical assessment of the prescription after reviewing the patient profile.

2 The pharmacy technician performing the final check of a prepared prescription did not ensure that: the
drug has not expired.

3 The pharmacy technician, when preparing a prescription product did not ensure that the drug will not
expire within the duration of use.

4 The pharmacy technician, when preparing a prescription product, did not ensure that the prescription
product label matches the manufacturer’s label with respect to the drug.

5 The pharmacy technician, when preparing a prescription product, did not ensure that the prescription
product label matches the manufacturer’s label with respect to strength.

Patient Identification Verification

The one non-compliance item for 2018-2019 within the patient identification
verification category revolved around the failure to positively identify a patient who was not

known to the pharmacy professional.

N = 6 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 — 2019

Rank The registrant did not positively identify a patient who is not known to him/her.
1
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Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Hospital Pharmacy

Review

Data from the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 fiscal years showed very similar non-

compliance findings year-over-year, both in terms of non-compliance categories and also

average non-compliance counts. We do howeve

compliance categories compared to community

r see greater movement in the top 5 non-

pharmacies. In addition, ambulatory services

also moved into the top 5 list as a new addition this year. One potential reason for this

increased variability may be due to the smaller number of hospital pharmacies reviewed

compared to community pharmacies (21 hospital pharmacies vs 287 community pharmacies). A

smaller sample size of data can be more prone to variability in results. Due to the size of and

number of pharmacy professionals who work at
to review a hospital pharmacy site compared to
Along with the top 5 non-compliance cat

comparison of results can be found in Appendix

N = 304 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018
. Inventory Management —

Nursing Unit — —

Pharmacy Manager

Responsibilities

. Narcotics & Controlled
Substances

Sterile Compounding

—

5. Equipment & References

hospital pharmacy sites, it often takes months
days for community pharmacy sites.
egory results shown below, a year-over-year

E.

2018 - 2019
1. Sterile Compounding

2.

/

—> 3.

Inventory Management —
Nursing Unit

Pharmacy Manager
Responsibilities

Ambulatory Services

_—»5. Equipment and References
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N = 304 items reviewed (2018-2019)

Average Non-Compliance Items per Hospital Pharmacy

2017 - 2018 2018-2019

18.30 (6.5%) 23.19 (7.6%)

Sterile Compounding

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the sterile compounding category
revolved around the use and maintenance of the sterile compounding environment, and not

performing required activities in the ante-area.

N =17 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank ' The anteroom did not maintain an ISO Class 8 environment for non-hazardous drug compounding and
1 ISO Class 7 environment for hazardous drug compounding.

2 Sterile products were not prepared and distributed in an environment that is in accordance with (a) the
Canadian Society of Hospital Pharmacists’ Guidelines for Preparation of Sterile Products in Pharmacies,
(b) the USP Pharmaceutical Compounding — Sterile Products Guidelines, and (c) such other published
standards approved by the board from time to time.

3 A demarcation line is not present, which is a visible line on the floor that separates the compounding
room into areas for different purposes.

4 Hazardous and non-hazardous drug compounding took place in the same area.

5 Personnel hand hygiene and garbing procedures, staging of components, order entry, CSP labelling, and
other high-particulate-generating activities were not performed in the ante-area.
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Inventory Management — Nursing Unit

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the nursing unit inventory
management category revolved around security and storage of medications, refrigerator

temperature monitoring, and food/beverage storage in medication refrigerators.

N = 20 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank Appropriate security and storage of all Schedule I, 1l, and Ill drugs and controlled drug substances for all

1 aspects of pharmacy practice including operation of the pharmacy without a registrant present was not
ensured.

2 The current, minimum and maximum refrigerator temperatures were not consistently recorded at the
start and end of each work day on a nursing unit.

3 A constant temperature-recording device or digital minimum/maximum thermometer (with probe) to
monitor both the current refrigerator temperature and the minimum/maximum temperatures reached
was not used.

4 Drugs on the nursing unit were not protected from contamination.

5 Food and/or beverages were found in medication refrigerators on a nursing unit.

Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the pharmacy manager
responsibilities category revolved around appropriate name badges not being worn by
pharmacy staff, failure to develop required quality management programs, security and storage

of medications, and inadequate documentation of the receipt of controlled substances.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia Revised: June 03, 2019



Appendix 1
Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019 P27

N =52 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure that each individual working in the pharmacy wears a

1 badge that clearly identifies the individual's registrant class or other status.

2 The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop, document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that maintains and enforces policies and procedures to comply with all
legislation applicable to the operation of a hospital pharmacy.

3 The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop, document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that monitors staff performance, equipment, facilities and adherence to the
Hospital Pharmacy Standards of Practice.

4 The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure appropriate security and storage of all Schedule |, II, and
Il drugs and controlled drug substances for all aspects of pharmacy practice including operation of the
pharmacy without a registrant present.

5 The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure that all records related to the purchase and receipt of
controlled drug substances are signed by a full pharmacist.

Ambulatory Services

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the ambulatory services category
revolved around missing prescription requirements, failure to counsel on a prescription, and
missing label requirements.

N = 41 items reviewed (2018-2019) *New to top 5 list for 2018-2019

2018 — 2019

Rank ' An outpatient prescription did not include the identification number from the practitioner’s regulatory
1 college at the time of dispensing.

2 A full pharmacist did not consult with the patient or patient’s representative at the time of dispensing a
new or refill prescription in person or, where not practical to do so, by telephone.

3 Drugs dispensed to staff, outpatients or the general public from a hospital pharmacy or hospital
pharmacy satellite were not labelled and dispensed according to the Community Pharmacy Standards of
Practice.

4 An outpatient prescription did not include the full address of the patient, including postal code at the
time of dispensing.

5 An outpatient prescription did not include written confirmation of the registrant who performed the
consultation at the time of dispensing.
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Equipment and References

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the equipment and references
category revolved around being inadequately equipped to perform pharmacy tasks and

refrigerator requirements including temperature monitoring.

N =9 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank @ The hospital pharmacy or hospital pharmacy satellite was not adequately equipped to provide safe and
1 proper medication compounding, dispensing and/or preparation of medication orders, and for the
provision of patient-oriented and administrative pharmacy services.
2 The current, minimum and maximum refrigerator temperatures were not consistently recorded at the
start and end of each work day in the pharmacy.

3 A constant temperature-recording device or digital minimum/maximum thermometer (with probe) to
monitor both the current refrigerator temperature and the minimum/maximum temperatures reached
was not used.

4 The pharmacy refrigerator temperature was not maintained between +2°C to +8°C.

5 Standard bar fridges (small volume combination fridge/freezer with one exterior door) were used to
store vaccines or biologicals in the pharmacy.

Hospital Pharmacy Professionals Review

Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Hospital Pharmacist
Review

Only 2 categories (2017-2018) and 3 categories (2018-2019) with non-compliance items
were identified for the Hospital Pharmacist Review. Results were once again very similar to the
previous year. Patient identification and counselling were the key areas of non-compliance
identified for hospital pharmacists.

Along with the top non-compliance category results shown below, a year-over-year

comparison of results can be found in Appendix F.
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N =57 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019
1. Patient Identification _—» 1. Counselling
verification /><\ 2. Patient Identification
2. Counselling

Verification

3. Documentation

Counselling

The top four non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the counselling category

revolved around missing required counselling points during patient consultation.
N = 15 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank | The pharmacist did not provide information regarding (i) how to monitor the response to therapy, (ii)
1 expected therapeutic outcomes, (iii) action to be taken in the event of a missed dose, and (iv) when to
seek medical attention, and (i) provide other information unique to the specific drug or patient.
2 The pharmacist did not discuss storage requirements when providing drug consultation to an outpatient
or the outpatient’s representative, or to an inpatient on request.

3 The pharmacist did not provide information regarding when to seek medical attention.

4 The pharmacist did not provide prescription refill information when providing drug consultation to an
outpatient or the outpatient’s representative, or to an inpatient on request.

Patient Identification Verification

The top two non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the patient identification
verification category revolved around using only a single person-specific identifier when

confirming a patient’s identity, and not taking reasonable steps to confirm a patient’s identity.
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N = 3 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank | The registrant used only one person-specific identifier to confirm the identity of a patient before

1 providing pharmacy services.

2 A registrant did not take reasonable steps to confirm the identity of a patient, patient’s representative,
registrant or practitioner before providing any pharmacy service, including but not limited to (a)
establishing a patient record, (b) updating a patient’s clinical information, (c) providing a printout of an
in-pharmacy or requesting a PharmaNet patient record, (d) establishing, deleting, or changing a patient
keyword, (e) viewing a patient record, (f) answering questions regarding the existence and content of a
patient record, (g) correcting information, and (h) disclosing relevant patient record information to
another registrant for the purpose of dispensing a drug or device, and/or for the purpose of monitoring
drug use.

Documentation

The one non-compliance item for 2018-2019 within the documentation category
revolved around missing documentation of all activities pertaining to a patient’s drug therapy in

their patient record.

N =17 items reviewed (2018-2019) *New to top 5 list for 2018-2019

2018 - 2019

Rank The pharmacist did not document directly in the patient record all activities and information pertaining
1 to the drug therapy of the patient.
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Top Non-Compliance Item Categories — Hospital Pharmacy
Technician Review

Hospital pharmacy technician results in 2017-2018 were very similar compared to 2018-
2019. Once again patient identification verification and documentation remained the top two
areas of non-compliance for hospital pharmacy technicians.

Along with the top non-compliance category results shown below, a year-over-year

comparison of results can be found in Appendix G.

N = 61 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

1. Patient Identification + » 1. Patient Identification
Verification Verification

2. Documentation <« » 2. Documentation

3. Product Distribution |__— 3. Collaboration

4. Collaboration )<\ 4. Product Distribution

Patient Identification Verification

The top three non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the patient identification
verification category revolved around not taking reasonable steps to confirm a patient’s
identity, and not using two person-specific identifiers or using inappropriate identifiers to

confirm the identity of a patient.
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N = 3 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank @ A registrant did not take reasonable steps to confirm the identity of a patient, patient’s representative,

1 registrant or practitioner before providing any pharmacy service, including but not limited to (a)
establishing a patient record, (b) updating a patient’s clinical information, (c) providing a printout of an
in-pharmacy or requesting a PharmaNet patient record, (d) establishing, deleting, or changing a patient
keyword, (e) viewing a patient record, (f) answering questions regarding the existence and content of a
patient record, (g) correcting information, and (h) disclosing relevant patient record information to
another registrant for the purpose of dispensing a drug or device, and/or for the purpose of monitoring
drug use.

2 A registrant did not use at least two person-specific identifiers to confirm the identity of a patient
before providing any pharmacy service to the patient.

3 The registrant used a patients room and/or bed number as a person-specific identifier to confirm the
identity of a patient before providing pharmacy services to the patient.

Documentation

The top four non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the documentation category
revolved around failure to record a pharmacy professional’s identity in writing after performing

a task that requires documentation.

N = 8 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank At the time of dispensing, an outpatient prescription did not include written confirmation of the
1 registrant who verified the patient allergy information.

2 The registrant, when responsible for performing the final check of a prescription product, did not record
his or her identity in writing.

3 Prior to releasing a prescription product, a registrant did not perform a final check of the prescription
product and record his or her identity in writing as required by section 17.

4 The registrant verified patient identification, but did not include his/her written confirmation for doing
so on the outpatient prescription.
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Collaboration

The top three non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the collaboration category
revolved around failure to identify a pharmacy professional’s registrant class during an

interaction with a patient or other health professional.

N = 4 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank ' The pharmacy technician, when interacting with a practitioner, did not identify his or her registrant
1 class.

2 The pharmacy technician, when answering the telephone, did not identify his or her registrant class.

3 The pharmacy technician, when interacting with a patient, did not identify his or her registrant class.

Product Distribution

The top 5 non-compliance items for 2018-2019 within the product distribution category
revolved around failure to perform certain required tasks during the preparation of a

prescription product and its final check.

N = 46 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2018 - 2019

Rank The registrant, when preparing a prescription product, did not ensure that the drug was not expired.
1

2 The registrant, when preparing a prescription product, did not ensure that the drug would not expire
within the duration of use.

3 The registrant, when performing the final check, did not ensure that the prescription product and the
prescription product label matched the product information with respect to the quantity.

4 The registrant, when performing the final check of an outpatient prescription product, did not ensure
that a pharmacist had completed a clinical assessment of the prescription by reviewing the patient
profile.

5 The registrant, when preparing an outpatient prescription product, did not ensure that drug was not
expired.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia Revised: June 03, 2019



Appendix 1
Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019 P34

Application of Findings

The information gathered by the PRP and the findings from this report serve a number
of important functions. Information gathered through this report plays a crucial role in
establishing a baseline view of the profession to help with identifying trends and the potential
need for changes in the future. Internally, information gathered by the PRP has also played a
key role across various departments within the CPBC.

For example:

e COs were consulted for their on-site experience and asked about how they inspect

for certain bylaw requirements by the Registration and Licensure department.

e PRP stats were used in presentations at the Canadian Association of Pharmacy
Technicians (CAPT) and Pharmacy Technician Society of BC (PTSBC) conferences.

e (COs consulted on draft Pharmacy Operations and Drug Scheduling Act (PODSA)
bylaw modernization project to help understand what is being seen in practice and
to inform decision-making.

e BC Pharmacy Practice Manual Working Group consults with COs regarding how the
BC Pharmacy Practice Manual is used in pharmacies.

e PRP review reports used to provide background information for committee-directed
investigations and for complaints department investigations when new files are
opened.

e Sterile compounding questions were added to pharmacy review to help raise
awareness of new upcoming legislation (joint effort with Legislation department).
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Conclusion

Findings

Overall results of practice reviews have been positive, with our data pointing towards an
average compliance percentage of about 93% for community pharmacy reviews (24.78 average
community pharmacy non-compliance items in 2018 - 2019 / 333 total items reviewed = 7.44%
non-compliance or about 93% compliance). Hospital pharmacy reviews showed an average
compliance percentage of about 92% (23.19 average hospital pharmacy non-compliance items
in 2018 — 2019 / 304 total items reviewed = 7.63% non-compliance or about 92% compliance).
While these results are generally positive, the PRP department still recognizes that more work
needs to be done to further improve compliance and positively impact patient safety.

The year-over-year comparison of our results showed many similarities with our 2017-
2018 and 2018-2019 year findings. This provides validation and reinforcement of our results by
showing us that even with completely separate pharmacies being reviewed for the first time in
2017-2018 and 2018-2019, our findings were still very similar. We are more confident that the
information we have gathered is indeed reflective of common non-compliance categories and
non-compliance items in the field. Over time as we move into our next cycle and second visits
for pharmacies, we will continue to monitor for any changes in top non-compliance categories
and non-compliance items.

In addition, while trickle down learning effects and peer-to-peer information sharing is
still observed by COs in pharmacy practice, the similarities in our year-over-year non-
compliance findings tells us these learning effects are likely limited. Learning and trickle down
effects alone do not seem to be significantly improving initial compliance prior to the start of a
practice review based on the results of our data. We would otherwise expect average non-
compliance counts to trend down, or top non-compliance categories to shift to other areas

year-over-year.
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Future Development

Going forward, the PRP department will continue to capture and evaluate data obtained
during practice reviews. We will look at unique ways to identify and examine any trends which
may be developing in the profession. This will be accomplished by further building on the
information gathered from existing tools such as the pharmacy manager pre-review, as well as
developing new tools and methods in the future.

As part of our efforts to explore future program development, the PRP staff consulted
with a subject matter expert in the field of data science and scientific methodology. As the
Practice Review Program is only part way through its first cycle of practice reviews, it was
recommended that the current cycle of practice reviews be completed before making any
significant changes to the goals or data collection methods of the program. This will allow the
PRP to collect a full set of data to use as a baseline, rather than making changes midway
through a cycle and potentially be left with two incomparable and unusable partial sets of data.

Prior to the next cycle of practice reviews, the Practice Review Committee will have the
opportunity to evaluate the Practice Review Program and recommend changes to program
objectives and the desired goal of collected data to the Board. The PRP will then be able to
consult with experts in the areas of study design, data analysis, and statistics to make necessary
changes to ensure data is collected and analyzed in an appropriate way to achieve the desired
goals of the program.

In the meantime, the PRP continues to plan for future development initiatives while

keeping a close eye on current trends and changes in the profession.
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Practice Review Forms and Criteria

Community Pharmacy Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5164-
PRP PharmReview Form.pdf

Community Pharmacist Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5163-
PRP PharmProReview Form.pdf

Community Pharmacy Technician Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5234-
PRP Community PT ProReview.pdf

Hospital Pharmacy Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5209-
PRP Hospital PharmReview Form.pdf

Hospital Pharmacist Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5300-
PRP Hospital PSPharmProReview Form.pdf

Hospital Pharmacy Technician Review Form

https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5 Programs/5-2 PRP/5301-
PRP Hospital PTPharmProReview Form.pdf
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https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5234-PRP_Community_PT_ProReview.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5209-PRP_Hospital_PharmReview_Form.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5209-PRP_Hospital_PharmReview_Form.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5300-PRP_Hospital_PSPharmProReview_Form.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5300-PRP_Hospital_PSPharmProReview_Form.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5301-PRP_Hospital_PTPharmProReview_Form.pdf
https://www.bcpharmacists.org/library/5_Programs/5-2_PRP/5301-PRP_Hospital_PTPharmProReview_Form.pdf
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Appendix B

Year-Over-Year Top Non-Compliance Category Results —
Community Pharmacy Review

Inventory Management

N = 39 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 — 2019

Rank
1

A registrant must not sell or dispense a quantity
of drug that will not be used completely prior to
the manufacturer's expiry date, if used
according to the directions on the label.

Any loss or theft of Targeted Substances must
be reported to the federal Minister of Health
within ten days of discovery with a copy of the
report forwarded to the College.

Missing date and signature of the person(s) who
completed narcotic count.

Missing date and signature of the responsible
pharmacist when conducting narcotic counts.

The inventory counts and reconciliation
documentation were not kept in chronological
order in a separate and dedicated record that is
retained for 3 years.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Forward to the College a copy of any report sent to
the appropriate office at Health Canada.
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Prescriptions

N = 64 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 —2018 2018 - 2019

Rank
1

Pharmacists must document in the client’s
record any emergency refill of the prescription,
the rationale for the decision, and any
appropriate follow-up plan.

Missing name and/or fax number of the
pharmacy intended to receive the transmission.

The written confirmation of the registrant who
verified the patient allergy information is
missing on a prescription hard copy.

The written confirmation of the registrant who
verified the patient identification is missing on a
prescription hard copy.

The written confirmation of the registrant who
performed the consultation is missing on a
prescription hard copy.

Appendix 1
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Missing name and/or fax number of the pharmacy
intended to receive the transmission.

Pharmacists must document in the client’s record
any emergency refill of the prescription, the
rationale for the decision, and any appropriate
follow-up plan.

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities

N = 37 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019

Rank
1

An ongoing quality management program that
monitors staff performance, equipment,
facilities and adherence to the Community
Pharmacy Standards of Practice has not been
developed.

Procedures were not established for (i)
inventory management, (ii) product selection,
and (iii) proper destruction of unusable drugs
and devices.

The pharmacy manager was not informed of
the emergency preparedness plan in the area
of the pharmacy and was unaware of his/her
responsibilities in conjunction with that plan.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

Procedures were not established for (i) inventory
management, (ii) product selection, and (iii) proper
destruction of unusable drugs and devices.

An ongoing quality management program that
monitors staff performance, equipment, facilities and
adherence to the Community Pharmacy Standards of
Practice has not been developed.

Policies and procedures were not established to
specify the duties to be performed by pharmacy
professionals and support persons.
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4 Policies and procedures were not established Ensure that all steps in the drug recall procedure are
to specify the duties to be performed by documented, if the procedure is initiated.

pharmacy professionals and support persons.

5 Ensure appropriate security and storage of all Ensure the pharmacy contains the reference material
Schedule |, 1, and 11l drugs and controlled drug and equipment approved by the board from time to
substances for all aspects of pharmacy practice = time.
including operation of the pharmacy without a
registrant present.

Security

N = 22 items reviewed (2018-2019) *New to top 5 list for 2018-2019

2018 — 2019

Rank | Schedule IA drugs were not kept in a locked metal safe.
1

2 A community pharmacy must clearly display at all external entrances that identify the premises as a
pharmacy, and at the dispensary counter signage provided by the College.

3 Security camera system does not have date/time stamp images that are archived and available for no
less than 30 days.

4 Under the Personal Information Protection Act (PIPA) pharmacies are required to post visible and clear
signage informing customers that the premise is monitored by cameras.

5 Some schedule | and Il drugs, controlled drug substances or personal health information, were not
secured by physical barriers.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia Revised: June 03, 2019



Practice Review Data Report 2018-2019

Equipment and References

N = 39 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 —2018 2018 — 2019

Rank
1

At the start and end of each work day, record
the minimum and maximum temperatures
reached since the last monitoring, on the
Temperature Form

The pharmacy does not have a current
reference applicable to veterinary drugs though
it does dispense drugs for veterinary use.

The dispensary of all community pharmacies at
a minimum must have the equipment outlined
as per PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy
was missing stirring rods (glass or plastic)

Use a constant temperature-recording device or
digital minimum/maximum thermometer (with
probe) to monitor both the current refrigerator
temperature and the minimum/maximum
temperatures reached.

The dispensary of all community pharmacies at
a minimum must have the equipment outlined
as per PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy
was missing funnels (glass or plastic)

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
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Same as previous year

The dispensary of all community pharmacies at a
minimum must have the equipment outlined as per
PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy was missing
stirring rods (glass or plastic).

The pharmacy does not have a current reference
applicable to veterinary drugs though it does
dispense drugs for veterinary use.

The dispensary of all community pharmacies at a
minimum must have the equipment outlined as per
PODSA Bylaw (3)(2)(w): The pharmacy was missing
funnels (glass or plastic).

Use a constant temperature-recording device or
digital minimum/maximum thermometer (with
probe) to monitor both the current refrigerator
temperature and the minimum/maximum
temperatures reached.
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Appendix C

Year-Over-Year Top Non-Compliance Category Results —
Community Pharmacist Review

Counselling

N = 28 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank The pharmacist/patient consultation did not
1 include the strength of the drug.

2 The pharmacist/patient consultation did not
include action to be taken in the event of a
missed dose.

3 The pharmacist/patient consultation did not
include the purpose of the drug.

4 The pharmacist/patient consultation did not

include information on storage requirements.

5 The pharmacist/patient consultation did not
include the name of the drug.

Documentation

N = 34 items reviewed (2018-2019)
2017 - 2018

Rank The pharmacist verified patient identification

1 but did not include his/her written
confirmation for doing so on the prescription
hardcopy.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

The pharmacist/patient consultation for a NEW
prescription did not include action to be taken in the
event of a missed dose.

The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL
prescription did not include the strength of the drug.

The pharmacist did not provide patient consultation for
a schedule 1 prescription.

The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL
prescription did not include the purpose of the drug.

The pharmacist/patient consultation for a REFILL
prescription did not include the directions for use of
the drug including frequency and duration.

2018 - 2019

Same as previous year
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The pharmacist verified patient allergy
information but did not include his/her written
confirmation for doing so on the prescription
hardcopy.

The rationale for the decision of providing an
emergency refill of a prescription was not
documented in the client’s record.

An appropriate follow-up plan of an
emergency refill of a prescription was not
documented in the client’s record.

The pharmacist performed counselling but did
not include his/her written confirmation for
doing so on the prescription hardcopy.

Appendix 1
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Same as previous year

The pharmacist performed counselling but did not
include his/her written confirmation for doing so on
the prescription hardcopy.

Unable to tell whether counselling occurred or refused
by patient because pharmacist did not self-identify for
that on the prescription.

The pharmacist reviewed PHI on PNET but did not self-
identify for doing that on prescription.

Patient Identification Verification

N = 6 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank ' The registrant did not view any ID from an

1

unknown patient.

The registrant viewed only 1 piece of secondary

ID from an unknown patient.

The registrant did not take reasonable steps to
confirm the identity of a patient before
providing pharmacy service that concerns a
patient’s PHI.

*No further NC items identified in this category

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

Same as previous year
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PharmaNet

N =17 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 — 2019

Rank ' The pharmacist did not review the patient's Same as previous year
1 personal health information stored on the
PharmaNet database before dispensing a drug.

2 | The pharmacist did not review a patient's local The pharmacist did not review a patient's local
patient profile for other potential problems. patient profile for drug therapy problems.

3 The pharmacist did not review a patient's local The pharmacist did not review a patient's local
patient profile for drug therapy problems. patient profile for other potential problems.

4 The pharmacist did not review a patient's local Same as previous year

patient profile for therapeutic duplications.

*No further NC items identified in this category
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Appendix D

Year-Over-Year Top Non-Compliance Category Results —
Community Pharmacy Technician Review

Documentation

N = 15 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank | The pharmacy technician verified patient Same as previous year

1 identification but did not include his/her
written confirmation for doing so on the
prescription hardcopy.

2 The pharmacy technician verified patient Same as previous year
allergy information but did not include his/her
written confirmation for doing so on the
prescription hardcopy.

3 The pharmacy technician did not perform the Unable to tell whether patient allergy information was

final check of a prescription but included verified or not because the pharmacy technician did
his/her written confirmation for doing so on not self-identify for that on the prescription.
the prescription.

4 The registrant did not update the patient's Unable to tell whether patient identification was
allergy information onto the PharmaNet verified or not because the pharmacy technician did
record when they acquired new information. not self-identify for that on the prescription.

5 The pharmacy technician included his/her The pharmacy technician did not include his/her

written confirmation on the prescription hard written confirmation for preparation of the
copy as the registrant who performed patient prescription.
consultation of a prescription.
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Collaboration

N = 24 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 - 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank ' The pharmacy technician did not identify his

1

or her registrant class in an interaction with a
patient.

The pharmacy technician did not identify his
or her registrant class in an interaction with a
practitioner.

The pharmacy technician performed a task
described in (i) sections 12: Counselling a
Prescription.

The pharmacy technician did not use
effective listening skills.

The pharmacy technician performed a task
described in (i) sections 13(3): Counselling a
Schedule 2 product.

Product Distribution

N = 33 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019

Rank The pharmacy technician performing the

1

final check of a prepared prescription did not
ensure that: a pharmacist has completed a
clinical assessment of the prescription after
reviewing the patient profile.

The pharmacy technician performing the
final check of a prepared prescription did not
ensure that: the drug has not expired.

The pharmacy technician, when preparing a
prescription product, did not ensure that the
prescription product label matches the

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
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Same as previous year

Same as previous year

The pharmacy technician performed a task described in

(i) sections 6(5): Clinical.

The pharmacy technician performed a task described in
(i) sections 12: Counselling a Prescription.

N/A

Same as previous year

Same as previous year

The pharmacy technician, when preparing a
prescription product did not ensure that the drug will
not expire within the duration of use.
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manufacturer’s label with respect to
strength.

The pharmacy technician, when preparing a
prescription product did not ensure that the
drug will not expire within the duration of
use.

The pharmacy technician performing the
final check of a prepared prescription did not
ensure that the prescription product
matches the information on the
manufacturer’s label with respect to: drug
identification number.
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The pharmacy technician, when preparing a
prescription product, did not ensure that the
prescription product label matches the manufacturer’s
label with respect to the drug.

The pharmacy technician, when preparing a
prescription product, did not ensure that the
prescription product label matches the manufacturer’s
label with respect to strength.

Patient Identification Verification

N = 6 items reviewed (2018-2019)
2017 —-2018

Rank ' The registrant did not positively identify a

1

patient who is not known to him/her.

The registrant did not take reasonable steps to
confirm the identity of a practitioner before
providing pharmacy service that concerns a
patient’s PHI.

The registrant viewed only 1 piece of
secondary ID from an unknown patient.

The registrant did not take reasonable steps to
confirm the identity of a patient before
providing pharmacy service that concerns a
patient’s PHI.

The registrant did not take reasonable steps to
confirm the identity of a patient’s
representative before providing pharmacy
service that concerns a patient’s PHI.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

2018 — 2019

Same as previous year

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
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Appendix E

Year-Over-Year Top Non-Compliance Category Results —
Hospital Pharmacy Review

Sterile Compounding

N =17 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019

Rank | Sterile products were not prepared and

1

distributed in an environment that is in
accordance with the USP Pharmaceutical
Compounding — Sterile Products Guidelines (USP
Chapter <797>).

The buffer area did not maintain an ISO Class 7
environment.

An anteroom (secondary control) was not present.

Personnel hand hygiene and garbing procedures,
staging of components, order entry, CSP labelling,
and other high-particulate-generating activities
were not performed in the ante-area.

Hazardous and non-hazardous drug compounding
took place in the same area.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

The anteroom did not maintain an I1SO Class 8
environment for non-hazardous drug
compounding and ISO Class 7 environment for
hazardous drug compounding.

Sterile products were not prepared and
distributed in an environment that is in
accordance with (a) the Canadian Society of
Hospital Pharmacists’ Guidelines for Preparation
of Sterile Products in Pharmacies, (b) the USP
Pharmaceutical Compounding — Sterile Products
Guidelines, and (c) such other published standards
approved by the board from time to time.

A demarcation line is not present, which is a visible
line on the floor that separates the compounding
room into areas for different purposes.

Hazardous and non-hazardous drug compounding
took place in the same area.

Personnel hand hygiene and garbing procedures,
staging of components, order entry, CSP labelling,
and other high-particulate-generating activities
were not performed in the ante-area.
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Inventory Management — Nursing Unit

N = 20 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 — 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank @ Refrigerator temperatures were never recorded

1

on a nursing unit.

The current, minimum and maximum refrigerator
temperatures were not consistently recorded at
the start and end of each work day on a nursing
unit.

Expired medication products were found in the
active medication inventory area.

Medication carts located in public access areas
were not locked while not being used.

Food and/or beverages were found in medication
refrigerators on a nursing unit.

Appropriate security and storage of all Schedule I,
I, and Il drugs and controlled drug substances for
all aspects of pharmacy practice including
operation of the pharmacy without a registrant
present was not ensured.

Same as previous year

A constant temperature-recording device or digital
minimum/maximum thermometer (with probe) to
monitor both the current refrigerator temperature
and the minimum/maximum temperatures
reached was not used.

Drugs on the nursing unit were not protected from
contamination.

Same as previous year

Pharmacy Manager Responsibilities

N =52 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019

Rank
1

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that includes a process to
review a full pharmacist’s documentation notes in
the hospital’s medical records.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that includes a process to
review patient-oriented recommendations.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia

The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure
that each individual working in the pharmacy
wears a badge that clearly identifies the
individual's registrant class or other status.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that maintains and
enforces policies and procedures to comply with
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The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure
that all records related to the purchase and
receipt of controlled drug substances are signed
by a full pharmacist.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that maintains and
enforces policies and procedures to comply with
all legislation applicable to the operation of a
hospital pharmacy.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that monitors staff
performance.

Ambulatory Services

Appendix 1
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all legislation applicable to the operation of a
hospital pharmacy.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not develop,
document and implement an ongoing quality
management program that monitors staff
performance, equipment, facilities and adherence
to the Hospital Pharmacy Standards of Practice.
The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure
appropriate security and storage of all Schedule |,
I, and Il drugs and controlled drug substances for
all aspects of pharmacy practice including
operation of the pharmacy without a registrant
present.

The hospital pharmacy manager did not ensure
that all records related to the purchase and receipt
of controlled drug substances are signed by a full
pharmacist.

N = 41 items reviewed (2018-2019) *New to top 5 list for 2018-2019

2018 — 2019

Rank | An outpatient prescription did not include the identification number from the practitioner’s regulatory

1

college at the time of dispensing.

A full pharmacist did not consult with the patient or patient’s representative at the time of dispensing a

new or refill prescription in person or, where not practical to do so, by telephone.

Drugs dispensed to staff, outpatients or the general public from a hospital pharmacy or hospital

pharmacy satellite were not labelled and dispensed according to the Community Pharmacy Standards of

Practice.

An outpatient prescription did not include the full address of the patient, including postal code at the

time of dispensing.

An outpatient prescription did not include written confirmation of the registrant who performed the

consultation at the time of dispensing.

College of Pharmacists of British Columbia
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Equipment and References

N =9 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 — 2018 2018 - 2019

Rank | The current, minimum and maximum refrigerator = The hospital pharmacy or hospital pharmacy

1 temperatures were not consistently recorded at satellite was not adequately equipped to provide
the start and end of each work day in the safe and proper medication compounding,
pharmacy. dispensing and/or preparation of medication

orders, and for the provision of patient-oriented
and administrative pharmacy services.
2 Refrigerator temperatures were never recorded in | The current, minimum and maximum refrigerator

the pharmacy. temperatures were not consistently recorded at
the start and end of each work day in the
pharmacy.
3 The College license displayed in the hospital A constant temperature-recording device or digital
pharmacy has expired. minimum/maximum thermometer (with probe) to

monitor both the current refrigerator temperature
and the minimum/maximum temperatures
reached was not used.
4 The hospital pharmacy was not adequately The pharmacy refrigerator temperature was not
equipped to provide safe and proper sterile maintained between +2°C to +8°C.
compounding services.

5 The hospital pharmacy was not adequately Standard bar fridges (small volume combination
equipped to provide safe and proper sterile fridge/freezer with one exterior door) were used
hazardous drug compounding services. to store vaccines or biologicals in the pharmacy.
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Appendix F

Year-Over-Year Top Non-Compliance Category Results —
Hospital Pharmacist Review

Counselling

N = 15 items reviewed (2018-2019)

2017 -2018 2018 - 2019

Rank | The pharmacist did not provide information Same as previous year

1 regarding (i) how to monitor the response to
therapy, (ii) expected therapeutic outcomes, (iii)
action to be taken in the event of a missed dose,
and (iv) when to seek medical attention, and (i)
provide other information unique to the specific
drug or patient.

2 The pharmacist did not discuss storage Same as previous year
requirements when providing drug consultation to
an outpatient or the outpatient’s representative,
or to an inpatient on request.

3 The pharmacist did not provide p